# UC Riverside

**UC Riverside Previously Published Works** 

## Title

Neural Regulation of Paternal Behavior in Mammals: Sensory, Neuroendocrine, and Experiential Influences on the Paternal Brain

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/12g9z1sh

## Authors

Horrell, Nathan D Hickmott, Peter W Saltzman, Wendy

## **Publication Date**

2018

## DOI

10.1007/7854\_2018\_55

Peer reviewed

eScholarship.org

# Neural Regulation of Paternal Behavior in Mammals: Sensory, Neuroendocrine, and Experiential Influences on the Paternal Brain



#### Nathan D. Horrell, Peter W. Hickmott, and Wendy Saltzman

#### Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Neural Circuitry of Paternal Care
  - 2.1 Overview
  - 2.2 Medial Preoptic Area
  - 2.3 Medial Amygdala
  - 2.4 Mesolimbic Reward Pathway
- 3 Sensory Influences on Paternal Care
  - 3.1 Olfaction
  - 3.2 Audition
  - 3.3 Somatosensation
  - 3.4 Sensory Influences: Conclusions
- 4 Hormonal and Neuropeptide Influences on Paternal Care
  - 4.1 Androgens
  - 4.2 Estrogen
  - 4.3 Progesterone
  - 4.4 Glucocorticoids
  - 4.5 Prolactin
  - 4.6 Vasopressin
  - 4.7 Oxytocin
- 5 Experiential Influences on Paternal Care and Neural Plasticity
- 6 Conclusions and Future Directions
- References

P. W. Hickmott

Graduate Program in Neuroscience, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, USA

Department of Psychology, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, USA e-mail: peterh@ucr.edu

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci DOI 10.1007/7854\_2018\_55

N. D. Horrell and W. Saltzman (⊠)

Graduate Program in Neuroscience, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, USA

Department of Evolution, Ecology, and Organismal Biology, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, USA e-mail: nhorr001@ucr.edu; saltzman@ucr.edu

Abstract Across the animal kingdom, parents in many species devote extraordinary effort toward caring for offspring, often risking their lives and exhausting limited resources. Understanding how the brain orchestrates parental care, biasing effort over the many competing demands, is an important topic in social neuroscience. In mammals, maternal care is necessary for offspring survival and is largely mediated by changes in hormones and neuropeptides that fluctuate massively during pregnancy, parturition, and lactation (e.g., progesterone, estradiol, oxytocin, and prolactin). In the relatively small number of mammalian species in which parental care by fathers enhances offspring survival and development, males also undergo endocrine changes concurrent with birth of their offspring, but on a smaller scale than females. Thus, fathers additionally rely on sensory signals from their mates, environment, and/or offspring to orchestrate paternal behavior. Males can engage in a variety of infant-directed behaviors that range from infanticide to avoidance to care; in many species, males can display all three behaviors in their lifetime. The neural plasticity that underlies such stark changes in behavior is not well understood. In this chapter we summarize current data on the neural circuitry that has been proposed to underlie paternal care in mammals, as well as sensory, neuroendocrine, and experiential influences on paternal behavior and on the underlying circuitry. We highlight some of the gaps in our current knowledge of this system and propose future directions that will enable the development of a more comprehensive understanding of the proximate control of parenting by fathers.

Keywords Alloparental behavior  $\cdot$  Medial preoptic area  $\cdot$  Neuroendocrinology  $\cdot$  Parental behavior  $\cdot$  Parental care  $\cdot$  Social behavior

## 1 Introduction

In all 5,000–6,000 extant mammalian species, maternal care is essential for the survival and development of offspring. At a minimum, mothers must undergo the physiological processes of gestation, parturition, and lactation, some of the major hallmarks of mammalian evolution. Typically, however, species-specific behaviors performed by mothers, such as warming, transporting, and protecting young, are also critical for infant survival. Because mothers are uniquely capable of gestating and lactating and can provide all behavioral components of maternal care, female mammals presumably evolved to independently support their own offspring following insemination, a pattern observed in most mammalian species. In contrast, males often provide as much care of offspring as mothers, if not more, in birds, as well as in the relatively small number of fish and amphibian species that engage in parental care (Clutton-Brock 1991; Cockburn 2006; Crump 1996; Goodwin et al. 1998; Gross and Sargent 1985), taxa in which offspring development (and in some cases fertilization) often occur outside of the mother's body and in which both parents are capable of feeding and protecting the young. Nonetheless, fathers provide care for their offspring in approximately 10% of mammalian genera, especially among canids, rodents, and primates (Kleiman and Malcolm 1981; Woodroffe and Vincent 1994).

Both the specific behaviors performed and the amount of resources invested in offspring by mammalian fathers can vary substantially. For example, fathers in biparental canid species, such as the gray wolf (*Canis lupus*), coyote (*C. latrans*), and African wild dog (Lycaon pictus), play with, babysit and defend their pups, and provision them with food (Bruin et al. 2016; Kleiman and Malcolm 1981; Mech et al. 1999). In many biparental rodents, such as California mice (Peromyscus californicus), prairie voles (Microtus ochrogaster), and Campbell's Russian dwarf hamsters (Phodopus campbelli), fathers retrieve, huddle, and lick their pups, as well as build nests (Gubernick and Alberts 1987; Wang et al. 1994; Wynne-Edwards 1995). Fathers in some biparental rodent species also commonly perform the kyphotic posture typical of nursing mothers, although males do not lactate, and may even help to deliver pups during parturition and ingest placenta and amniotic fluid (Jones and Wynne-Edwards 2000; Perea-Rodriguez and Saltzman 2014). In the biparental nonhuman primates in which paternal care has been studied extensively, particularly titi monkeys (*Callicebus* spp.), marmosets (*Callithrix* spp.), and tamarins (Saguinus spp.), fathers often play a major role in transporting infants, thought to be an energetically expensive behavior. Fathers in these species also groom their infants, as well as play and share food with them (Fernandez-Duque et al. 2009; Spence-Aizenberg et al. 2016). In all of these taxa, the amounts and proportions of parental behaviors performed by fathers, as compared to mothers and alloparents, can differ markedly among species as well as across the offspring's development. Paternal care can be essential for survival of offspring and can have lasting impacts on offspring behavioral, neural, cognitive, affective, and social development (Bales and Saltzman 2016; Braun and Champagne 2014; Kentner et al. 2009).

In accordance with the ubiquity of maternal care among mammals, the neural substrates and endocrine determinants of both physiological and behavioral aspects of maternal care have been studied extensively, especially in rodents. Much less is known about paternal care. The neural circuitry underlying paternal behavior, in particular, remains relatively unexplored. While both the neural substrates and endocrine influences on parental care overlap between mothers and fathers, the extent of this overlap is not yet clear. Similarly, although some of the sensory and experiential influences on male parental behavior resemble those in mothers, these influences are also likely to differ substantially between the sexes; however, the extent of these similarities and differences has received little attention.

In this chapter we review neural, sensory, hormonal, and experiential influences on the expression of paternal behavior in mammals. We focus largely on rodents because they are the best-studied; however, we incorporate findings from primates where data exist. Moreover, we present results from both biparental species (e.g., California mouse, prairie vole, Campbell's Russian dwarf hamster, mandarin vole [*Microtus mandarinus*], Mongolian gerbil [*Meriones unguiculatus*]; common marmoset [*Callithrix jacchus*], cotton-top tamarin [*Saguinus oedipus*], human), in which fathers spontaneously provide care for their offspring, and uniparental mammals, such as laboratory mice (*Mus*) and rats (*Rattus*), in which paternal care may be expressed under captive conditions but does not seem to occur spontaneously in natural environments.

Given that paternal care has evolved multiple times among mammals, even within individual orders (West and Capelllini 2016), we should not assume that it is governed by identical mechanisms in all taxa. Moreover, paternal care can encompass several motivational states (e.g., inhibition of aversion or aggression toward infants, attraction to infants) as well as multiple behaviors, which typically change across the period of infant development. In addition, different mechanisms may underlie the expression of paternal (or allopaternal) behavior in reproductively inexperienced males, new fathers, and experienced fathers. Thus, neural, hormonal, sensory, and experiential influences may differ both among the components of paternal care and over time. Furthermore, many, if not most, studies of paternal care have evaluated males' responses to unrelated young, which might not be expressed and/or mediated identically to responses toward a male's own infants. Therefore, we refer to males' behavior toward their own offspring as "paternal" and behavior toward non-descendant young as "allopaternal." Finally, the vast majority of studies on proximate determinants of paternal care have been conducted under highly artificial laboratory conditions; therefore, we cannot yet determine the precise role of these factors in natural settings.

With these caveats in mind, we summarize current understanding of the neural circuitry underlying parental behavior in mammals, followed by discussions of sensory, endocrine, and experiential influences on this circuitry and on the expression of paternal care. Our review of the neural circuity is based heavily on data from mothers, as limited data are available from fathers. In the remaining sections, however, we focus almost exclusively on males.

#### 2 Neural Circuitry of Paternal Care

Building a complete model of the neurobiological basis of mammalian behavior is a daunting task; a legion of genetic, epigenetic, ontogenetic, and proximate causal factors influence a vast glial-neuronal network with intricate and myriad connectivities and signaling mechanisms. While all circuit diagrams are reductive, they do depict evidence-based theories of connectivity and function of nuclei implicated in behavior and therefore provide useful models to ultimately build a complete picture of a particular behavioral outcome. Furthermore, even incomplete information can shed light on distinct and shared mechanisms underlying behaviors and provide clues for understanding and treating disruptions of these behaviors.

One of the earliest parental-care circuit diagrams was published in 1988 by Michael Numan (1988). Since its inception, the parental-care circuit diagram has evolved substantially, with some versions depicting circuitry starting with sensory inputs and ending in motor outputs (Bridges 2015; Gammie 2005; Lambert and Kinsley 2012; Numan 2014; Olazábal et al. 2013; Zilkha et al. 2017). Contemporary parental-care circuitry diagrams are quite complex, as they integrate decades of

studies; a recent iteration depicts 23 brain nuclei involved in regulation of infantdirected behavior in rodents (Dulac et al. 2014). Here we produce another circuit diagram iteration of what we consider the core parental-care circuitry underlying the expression of infant-directed care in mammals.

#### 2.1 Overview

Many circuit diagrams, including the one shown in Fig. 1, depict infant-related sensory information being funneled into the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus (MPOA) and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) via several pathways: sensory cues from several modalities are routed through the amygdala via the stria terminalis and amygdalofugal pathway; through the prefrontal cortex, brainstem, and septum via the medial forebrain bundle; and through the thalamus via projections from at least the intralaminar complex, which conveys suckling information to the MPOA (Berk and Finkelstein 1981; Cservenák et al. 2013, 2017; Chiba and Murata 1985; Hoover and Vertes 2007; Leonard and Scott 1971; Myers et al. 2014; De Olmos and Ingram 1972; Vertes 2004). The MPOA is hypothesized to integrate these inputs, a process influenced by the hormonal milieu, and to facilitate parental care in two ways: (1) by inhibiting nuclei in the aggression/fear circuitry, such as the



**Fig. 1** Simple circuit diagram of parental care in mammals. Blue represents areas associated with sensory-limbic integration, red represents areas associated with limbic-motor integration, and green represents motor areas (see text for details). Abbreviations of brain areas: *BNST* bed nucleus of stria terminalis, *MPOA* medial preoptic area, *AHN* anterior hypothalamic nucleus, *VMH* ventromedial hypothalamus, *VTA* ventral tegmental area, *NAcc* nucleus accumbens, *VP* ventral pallidum

anterior hypothalamic nucleus, ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, and periaqueductal gray, and (2) by exciting the reward circuitry via projections to the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and nucleus accumbens (NAcc). Thus, the MPOA has been conceptualized as a gate for infant-related stimuli to reach the mesolimbic reward pathway and mediate the hedonic tone of infant stimuli (Numan and Stolzenberg 2008).

The NAcc projects to the ventral pallidum. Together these nuclei have been referred to as the "final common pathway" (Mogenson 1987; Smith et al. 2009) for limbic information to influence motor systems, due in part to the ventral pallidum's projection to brainstem motor nuclei such as the pedunculopontine nucleus. The pedunculopontine nucleus sends descending projections to the spinal cord, as well as ascending projections to nuclei heavily implicated in voluntary behavior: the dorsal striatum, globus pallidus, and subthalamic nucleus, as well as supplementary, premotor, and primary motor cortices that contribute to signaling in Betz cells, the upper motor neurons of the descending corticospinal tract (Martinez-Gonzalez et al. 2011; Mena-Segovia et al. 2004; Winn 2006).

### 2.2 Medial Preoptic Area

Many studies implicate the MPOA in parental care in both males and females. In female rodents, the MPOA plays a key role in the expression of maternal behavior, as demonstrated by studies using a variety of techniques (e.g., lesions, stimulation, quantification of immediate-early gene expression, and glucose uptake) (Numan 2014). This brain region expresses receptors for prolactin, oxytocin, estrogen, and progesterone, hormones that fluctuate during the peripartum period in females; correspondingly, these hormones have been found to modulate maternal behavior, at least partly through actions on the MPOA (Ahdieh et al. 1987; Bosch and Neumann 2012; Bridges 1996; Bridges and Freemark 1995; Bridges and Mann 1994; Bridges et al. 1990; Brown et al. 2017; Fahrbach et al. 1986; Pedersen et al. 1994; Ribeiro et al. 2012).

Several studies have also implicated the MPOA in the expression of parental and alloparental behavior by males (Bales and Saltzman 2016), suggesting that paternal care in biparental species may be facilitated by increased activity in "maternal-care circuitry" present in mammals. For example, exposure to pups increases expression of the immediate-early gene protein product fos in the MPOA of fathers and/or allopaternally behaving virgin males in mice, rats, California mice, and prairie voles (De Jong et al. 2009; Horrell et al. 2017; Kirkpatrick et al. 1994a; Lambert et al. 2013). However, one study found no increase in fos expression in the MPOA of male California mice exposed to an unrelated pup compared to those exposed to a novel object (De Jong et al. 2010). In *Mus*, fathers that behave more paternally toward unrelated pups have greater fos expression in the MPOA following pup exposure than males that exhibit less allopaternal behavior (Tsuneoka et al. 2015). Stimulation of the MPOA increases paternal care, while lesions decrease paternal and allopaternal care, including mate-dependent paternal care, in *Mus* (Akther et al. 2014;

Tsuneoka et al. 2015). Similarly, MPOA lesions in male rats prevent and disrupt pup-induced (i.e., sensitized) allopaternal behavior (Rosenblatt et al. 1996; Sturgis and Bridges 1997). MPOA lesions also disrupt paternal and allopaternal behavior in naturally biparental species such as the California mouse (Lee and Brown 2002, 2007).

Identification of the MPOA cells responsible for the effects observed in these lesion studies has proved more difficult. Colocalization of an immediate-early gene signal (fos, egr-1, or jun protein or mRNA) after parental-care behavior with a celltype-specific marker can reveal which cell types, categorized by gene expression, are involved in paternal care. Such studies have implicated many cell types in maternal behavior (see Wu et al. 2014), with little evidence of the cell types involved in paternal care (Tsuneoka et al. 2017). Estradiol implants in the MPOA of male rats decrease sensitization times, demonstrating the MPOA to be an action site for estrogenic facilitation of allopaternal care in rats (Rosenblatt and Ceus 1998). Activity in MPOA neurons that express the neuropeptide galanin (Gal+ neurons), which are largely GABAergic, plays a causal role in paternal care in Mus: optogenetic activation of Gal+ neurons induced allopaternal behavior, while lesioning them reduced allopaternal care (Wu et al. 2014). These elegant experiments indicate that this Gal+ population is involved in paternal care, but it does not rule out possible roles for other neuronal populations in the MPOA, nor does it explain why only a subset of Gal+ neurons are active during paternal behavior. Recent work in female rats suggests that some Gal+ neurons are responsive to prolactin and receive thalamic projections responsive to nursing stimulation (Cservenák et al. 2017). Because males do not nurse, a role of these inputs in paternal care is questionable, though perhaps ventral tactile stimulation during thermoregulation/huddling may activate this pathway in males. The efferent connectivity of Gal+ MPOA neurons has yet to be determined.

Colocalizing indicators of neural activity can be paired not only with indicators of gene expression to increase our understanding of specific cell types involved in parental care but also with tracers to increase understanding of the functional connectivities of relevant neurons. The cells that express fos after maternal-care behavior in the MPOA of rats show a variety of efferent connectivities, including at least the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, lateral septum, VTA, and periaqueductal gray (Numan and Numan 1997; Numan and Sheehan 1997). Tsuneoka et al. (2013) suggest that a GABAergic pathway from the central MPOA to the rhomboid nucleus of the BNST regulates infant-directed behavior in male *Mus*. How this pathway relates to the Gal+ findings detailed above is not known. In particular, how distinct populations of MPOA neurons account for the enhancement of activity in response to a pup stimulus is not understood.

### 2.3 Medial Amygdala

As with the MPOA, cues from multiple sensory modalities converge on the amygdala, which drives hypothalamic activity directly via the stria terminalis and amygdalofugal pathways. Medial amygdala (MeA) lesions facilitate maternal behavior in rats (Fleming et al. 1980; Numan et al. 1993; Oxley and Fleming 2000). In contrast, lesions of the MeA (or corticomedial amygdala) reduce allopaternal care in virgin male prairie voles (Kirkpatrick et al. 1994a). Lesions of the basolateral amygdala have been reported to decrease allopaternal care in California mice but not in prairie voles (Kirkpatrick et al. 1994a; Lee and Brown 2007).

Limited data are available on the MeA projections to the MPOA. In adult female rats that do not exhibit allomaternal care upon first exposure to pups, indiscriminate stimulation of the MeA produces inhibition or no response (and never excitation) in the MPOA (Gardner and Phillips 1977). The MeA also projects to many other nuclei, including hypothalamic regions associated with defensive and aggressive behaviors such as the anterior hypothalamic nucleus and ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, which likely modulate infant-directed behaviors (Canteras et al. 1995).

The cell types in the MeA or other subnuclei of the amygdala that relay pup-related information to the MPOA or other brain regions have yet to be identified. After identification, investigation into the cues that influence the activity of these cells (e.g., olfactory and auditory cues from pups and mates, hormones, neuropeptides) can be conducted. The identification of these cells, the characterization of their properties, and manipulation of their activity would validate (or weaken) and extend hypotheses about the parental-care circuitry.

#### 2.4 Mesolimbic Reward Pathway

The mesolimbic reward pathway plays a role in parental care, demonstrated mainly by research in female rats. Electrical lesions and GABA<sub>A</sub> and GABA<sub>B</sub> receptor agonists in the VTA reduce maternal care (Numan and Smith 1984; Numan et al. 2009). The VTA sends dopaminergic projections to the NAcc; however, the role of NAcc in parental care is debated. Some studies report that NAcc lesions profoundly decrease maternal care, while other studies report mixed, minor, or no effects (Lee et al. 1999, 2000; Li and Fleming 2003a, b; Numan et al. 2005; Smith and Holland 1975). The role of dopamine in NAcc is unclear as well. Dopamine levels in this region increase when rat dams interact with their young (Champagne et al. 2004; Hansen et al. 1993). Cis-flupenthixol, a nonspecific dopamine receptor antagonist, decreases retrieval and licking of pups as well as nest building, but so does cocaine, which increases dopamine levels (Keer and Stern 1999; Vernotica et al. 1999). Dopamine-depleting 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of the NAcc increase retrieval latency unless dams are deprived of pups for 3–6 h before retrieval tests (Hansen 1994; Hansen et al. 1991). D1- and D2-type receptors are present in the NAcc: administration of a D1 receptorspecific agonist in the NAcc increases retrieval of pups, while a D1 receptor antagonist into the NAcc shell decreases retrieval (Numan et al. 2005; Stolzenberg et al. 2007). Administration of D2 receptor-specific antagonists in the NAcc shell has been shown to have no effect on or decrease maternal behavior in rats, while administration of a D2 receptor agonist in the NAcc has no effect on maternal behavior (Numan et al. 2005; Silva et al. 2003). These data led Numan and Stolzenberg (2008) to hypothesize that inhibitory D1 receptor signaling in the NAcc disinhibits the ventral pallidum, allowing for the expression of parental behavior, especially the appetitive components.

The preoptic area and ventral BNST (vBNST) are often thought to alter activity in the mesolimbic reward pathway in response to infant-related stimuli via projections to both the VTA and NAcc (Kaufling et al. 2009; Numan and Numan 1997). Both the vBNST and MPOA have glutamatergic and GABAergic projections to the VTA (Geisler et al. 2007; Jennings et al. 2013; Tobiansky et al. 2013, 2016); however, a role of these projections in parental care has yet to be demonstrated. Lesions of the central MPOA (cMPOA) disrupt parental behavior in female Mus more strongly than lesions of other regions of the MPOA, and the majority of neurons in the cMPOA that express fos after maternal behavior are GABAergic, while very few are glutamatergic (Tsuneoka et al. 2013). Interestingly, in female rats, the majority of cMPOA neurons that project to the VTA express estrogen receptors (ER), while almost none express progesterone receptors (Fahrbach et al. 1986; Morrell et al. 1984; Tobiansky et al. 2016), which strongly implicates estrogen in gating of pup-related information to the mesolimbic reward pathway through actions on the MPOA. Oxytocin+ and neurotensin+ neurons in the MPOA have also been demonstrated to project to the VTA in female mice and rats, respectively (Geisler and Zahm 2006; Shahrokh et al. 2010; Tsuneoka et al. 2013). Selective manipulation of the activity of any subpopulation of MPOA neurons (e.g., GABAergic, glutamatergic, neurotensin+, oxytocin+) that project to mesolimbic reward circuitry in the context of parental care has not yet been conducted in any species.

As mentioned above, the NAcc projects to the ventral pallidum in what has been called the final common pathway for limbic information to reach the motor system (Mogenson 1987; Smith et al. 2009). Along with the VTA, these areas are responsible for limbic-motor integration and ultimately the control of output (Fig. 1). Excitotoxic lesions or muscimol inactivations of the ventral pallidum decrease maternal behavior in rats (Numan et al. 1988, 2005). NAcc lesions mildly decrease pup retrieval in male California mice but do not affect retrieval in female California mice, partially supporting this view (Lee and Brown 2007). Ventral pallidum lesions decrease paternal care in *Mus* (Akther et al. 2014). Finally, the ventral pallidum projects to brainstem motor nuclei, such as the pedunculopontine nucleus, that project to the basal ganglia and motor cortices, thereby contributing to descending motor pathways (Winn 2006). Limbic areas including the amygdala, MPOA, and BNST are thought to integrate sensory information and facilitate the

activity of this part of the circuit to produce the appropriate infant-directed behaviors while suppressing aggressive behaviors (see Fig. 1).

### 3 Sensory Influences on Paternal Care

The expression of paternal and allopaternal care is influenced by numerous stimuli from both the internal and external environments, detected through multiple sensory modalities (Fig. 2; Brown 1993). Most studies have focused on cues from adult females and offspring. In biparental mammals, fathers typically begin to engage in paternal care after copulation and a period of cohabitation with their pregnant mate. Not surprisingly, therefore, cues from both the mate and pups, including olfactory, auditory, and tactile stimuli, can facilitate the onset and maintenance of paternal care and influence activity in the underlying neural circuitry. Additionally, copulation, specifically ejaculation, activates time-delayed neural mechanisms in male mice and rats, independent of further exposure to the



**Fig. 2** Overview of external (environmental) and internal factors potentially influencing expression of mammalian paternal behavior via actions on the paternal-care neural circuitry. The specific factors affecting paternal behavior are likely to differ among and potentially within species and may change over time within individual animals based on such variables as age and parental experience. Moreover, these influences are likely to interact in complex ways. For example, social experience (e.g., mating, parental care received) might affect male parental behavior by eliciting changes in hormones (e.g., testosterone, estrogen), which in turn can alter signaling by neuropeptides (e.g., arginine vasopressin, oxytocin). Finally, influences on parental care can occur over different time scales. For example, exposure to specific hormones or neuropeptides during early development, or type of parental behavior received, can affect parental behavior expressed later in life, whereas sensory or metabolic cues might have more acute effects

mate, such that infanticidal behavior is inhibited and paternal behavior is promoted around the time that the males' pups are born (Brown 1993; Mennella and Moltz 1988b; vom Saal 1985). The relative importance of cues from copulation, from females, and from pups in both inhibiting aggression toward pups and facilitating paternal behavior differs markedly among species. Moreover, although olfactory cues play a key role in rodents, the roles of other sensory modalities are largely unknown.

### 3.1 Olfaction

Olfaction is a major sensory modality of rodents. Thus, it is not surprising that olfactory cues from females facilitate paternal care in multiple rodent species. In ICR mice (an outbred strain of Mus), olfactory cues from the mate both increase the number of fathers that retrieve pups and elicit fos expression in fathers' MPOA (Liang et al. 2014; Zhong et al. 2014). (Note that we specify strain of mice only when different results have been obtained in other strains.) In the biparental California mouse, fathers engage in high levels of paternal behavior after the birth of their own pups, but paternal responsiveness wanes within the first few days postpartum unless fathers are housed continuously with their mates or exposed to a chemosignal from their mates' urine; exposure to urinary chemosignals from an unfamiliar lactating female, rather than from the familiar mate, does not facilitate paternal care (Gubernick 1990; Gubernick and Alberts 1989). In male prairie voles, in contrast, paternal responsiveness rises following 3 days of housing and mating with a female, but olfactory cues do not appear to play a role in subsequent maintenance of this responsiveness: following removal from their mate, males continue to show high levels of paternal responsiveness whether or not they are continuously exposed to excreta from the female (Jean-Baptiste et al. 2008). Similarly, in Mongolian gerbils, first-time fathers show pronounced inhibition of infanticide around the time of the birth of their first litter, which is dependent upon interactions with the mate. Again, however, olfactory cues do not appear to be important: males removed from their mates during late pregnancy again become infanticidal toward unfamiliar pups, and this effect is not influenced by continuous exposure to excreta or soiled bedding from the mate (Elwood and Ostermeyer 1984).

The olfactory chemical messenger(s) that are emitted from females and influence paternal care have yet to be fully identified, but analyses of the composition of urine have been conducted in multiple species, including house mice and California mice (e.g., Idborg et al. 2005; Jemiolo et al. 1989, 1994; Plumb et al. 2003). Urine and secretions of the preputial gland have been implicated in maternal behavior (Brouette-lahlou et al. 1991b; Londei et al. 1989). In particular, dodecyl propionate, a component of preputial gland secretions, has been implicated in anogenital licking, a component of parental care in rodents. Further analysis of the exact olfactory chemosignals, their effect on olfactory neurons, the connectivity of those neurons,

and the modulation by hormones and neuropeptides implicated in parental-care behavior has not been conducted (Brouette-lahlou et al. 1991a).

In reductive parental-care circuitry diagrams, olfactory information is often portrayed as being relayed from the main and accessory olfactory bulbs through the MeA and then conveyed through the stria terminalis to hypothalamic nuclei, which alter activity in the mesolimbic reward circuitry. It is important to remember, though, that the main and accessory olfactory bulbs project to many nuclei, in addition to the MeA, that might influence parental care and, conversely, that hypothalamic nuclei such as the MPOA receive olfactory information from other nuclei besides the MeA (for reviews see Courtiol and Wilson 2014; Pro-Sistiaga et al. 2007; Spehr et al. 2006). Both the main and accessory/vomeronasal (VNO) olfactory systems have been implicated in paternal care in rodents (see below), and at least some main and accessory olfactory bulb signals are integrated in individual MeA neurons (Guthman and Vera 2016; Keshavarzi et al. 2014).

The main olfactory bulb has been implicated in infant-directed behaviors in males of several rodent species. Olfactory bulb lesions increase pup-directed aggression in virgin male prairie voles, which typically display allopaternal care (Kirkpatrick et al. 1994a, b). In adult virgin male rats, the opposite effect is seen: olfactory bulbectomy or zinc sulfate treatment of the nasal epithelium decreases sensitization times (Fleischer et al. 1981; Mayer et al. 1979). In C57BL6 mouse fathers, offspring recognition is at least partly mediated by the integration of newly generated interneurons in the main olfactory bulb and hippocampus (Mak and Weiss 2010).

Lesions or inactivation of the VNO in virgin male mice reduce infanticide and increase allopaternal behavior toward pups (Orikasa et al. 2017; Tachikawa et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2014). Similarly, VNO removal decreases infanticide in male rats (Mennella and Moltz 1988a). Until recently, the cell type(s) in the VNO that process pup-related cues implicated in paternal care were not known. Odorant receptor Olfr692 is highly expressed in the VNO of adult male mice, and correlational studies suggest that VNO sensory neurons expressing Olfr692 may play a crucial role in infant-directed behavior: exposure to pups, to pups encased in wire mesh balls preventing direct contact, or to ligands washed off pups increases expression of the immediate-early gene Egr1 in Olfr692-positive VNO neurons in virgin males, while exposure to odors from predators or adult conspecifics does not (Nakahara et al. 2016). Fathers exposed to unrelated pups show less activity in Olfr692-positive cells than virgin males, although the two groups have the same number of Olfr692positive cells (Nakahara et al. 2016). Virgin females and mothers also have Olfr692positive neurons in the VNO, but very few of these neurons express EGR-1 after pup exposure. These correlational studies are intriguing, but studies investigating the causal relationship between activity of Olfr692-expressing neurons and parental behavior remain to be conducted. Moreover, the pup-emitted ligand(s) for Olfr692 has not yet been identified. Other cell types in the VNO have not been investigated with respect to paternal behavior.

Although the bed nucleus of the accessory olfactory tract (BAOT) does not appear in many circuit diagrams to date, BAOT lesions decrease sensitization latencies in male rats (Cruz and Del Cerro 1998; Izquierdo et al. 1992). The particular cell types in the BAOT that respond to pup cues, the properties and connectivities of those cells, and whether they undergo plasticity during the transition into fatherhood have yet to be determined.

#### 3.2 Audition

Infants of virtually all mammalian species cry (i.e., produce age-specific vocalizations when distressed or separated from caregivers) (Newman 2007). Rodent pups produce a variety of vocalizations, some of which are ultrasonic (USVs). USVs may be produced in response to a change in temperature, olfactory stimuli, abnormal tactile stimulation, and/or loss of social contact (e.g., Conely and Bell 1978; Ehret 2005; Geyer 1979; Marchlewska-Koj et al. 1999). In *Mus*, production of USVs in the range of 40–80 kHz raises the pup's body temperature and elicits parental care (Blumberg and Sokoloff 2001; Ehret 2005). Fathers and virgin male *Mus* that have prior experience with pups, but not inexperienced virgin males, show a preference for modeled USVs compared to ultrasonic sounds dissimilar to pup USVs (Ehret 2005; Ehret and Buckenmaier 1994; Ehret and Koch 1989).

Vocalizations from female mates also elicit paternal care in *Mus*. Adult female ICR mice emit a series of 38-kHz USVs when deprived of their pups. When played back to their mates, these vocalizations can increase both retrieval of related pups and fos expression in the MPOA (Liang et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2013; Zhong et al. 2014).

In two biparental primate species, humans and common marmosets, fathers show enhanced behavioral or affective responses to infant distress vocalizations compared to non-fathers, suggesting that infant cries are more likely to elicit nurturing behavior from fathers (Fleming et al. 2002; Ziegler and Sosa 2016). Moreover, responses to infant distress cries are in some cases correlated with or influenced by hormone (estrogen, testosterone, prolactin) or neuropeptide (oxytocin) levels in adult males (Fleming et al. 2002; Li et al. 2017; Ziegler and Sosa 2016).

#### 3.3 Somatosensation

Physical contact can promote paternal care in both rodent and human fathers. In prairie voles, males that have direct physical contact with their mate spend more time in contact with experimentally presented pups, compared to males that receive only distal cues from their mate (Simoncelli et al. 2010). Similarly, in Mongolian gerbils, inhibition of infanticide prior to the birth of a male's first litter appears to be largely dependent upon physical (and possibly visual) contact with the mate (Elwood and Ostermeyer 1984). Skin-to-skin contact between men and their infants has beneficial effects on both infants and fathers, including elevating fathers' feelings of attachment toward their infant (Chen et al. 2017; Cong et al. 2015; Shorey et al. 2016).

The neuroendocrine pathways by which tactile cues (except those from suckling infants) facilitate parental care in either sex are not well known. In primates and rodents, physical contact with an infant can stimulate release of both prolactin and oxytocin in mothers and potentially in fathers (Cong et al. 2015; Dixson and George 1982; Lonstein 2007), which in turn might promote nurturant behavior. At the level of neural circuitry, Seelke et al. (2016) found numerous differences in both extrinsic and intrinsic connections of S1 somatosensory cortex in adult prairie voles that had received different patterns of care, including different amounts of contact, from their own parents, which the authors categorized as "low-contact" and "high-contact" offspring. The two categories of prairie vole offspring express behavioral responses to infants consistent with the parental care that they themselves received (Perkeybile et al. 2015); thus, patterns of S1 connectivity are associated with both parental care received and parental care performed. It is unknown, however, whether these associations reflect causal or simply correlational relationships among parental care, tactile cues, and somatosensory cortex.

In female *Mus*, neurons in the posterior intralaminar complex of the thalamus that express tuberoinfundibular peptide of 39 residues (Tip39) are activated by suckling, project to neurons in the MPOA including galanin+ neurons, and play a role in maternal care (see Cservenák et al. 2017; Dobolyi et al. 2014). The posterior intralaminar complex may also convey auditory information to the MPOA (Campeau and Watson 2000; Dobolyi et al. 2014). The role of these pathways in male parental behavior, if any, has not been investigated.

#### 3.4 Sensory Influences: Conclusions

Clearly, we are far from understanding the neural circuitry of sensory inputs influencing the expression of paternal care. In addition to the olfactory, auditory, and tactile cues discussed above, other types of sensory information from pups and/or mates (i.e., visual, thermal, gustatory), and possibly from other social or nonsocial sources (e.g., male rivals, predators), might converge on central paternalcare circuitry to facilitate or inhibit paternal behavior. Where and how different sensory systems act on core paternal circuitry, and potential interactions among diverse sensory inputs, are not fully understood. In ICR mice, for example, both auditory and olfactory stimuli from dams increase MPOA fos expression and elicit paternal care in their male mates (Zhong et al. 2014). Neither deafening nor anosmia alone decreases the percentage of ICR mouse sires that retrieve pups; however, concurrent deafness and anosmia abolish retrieval, suggesting redundancy between auditory and olfactory cues (Liu et al. 2013). Similarly, in female Mus, olfactory and auditory cues from pups presented simultaneously cause more fos expression in the MPOA than either stimulus presented alone (Okabe et al. 2013). In both males and females, it is unknown if olfactory and auditory cues from mates or pups converge on the same MPOA neurons. Compartment analysis of temporal activity by fluorescent in situ hybridization (catFISH), quantifying immediate-early gene expression

after sequential presentation of pup-related olfactory and auditory cues, would advance our knowledge of how multimodal sensory cues converge on core parental-care circuitry.

Finally, potential effects of fatherhood and its attendant neuroendocrine changes on plasticity within sensory systems have received little attention. In *Mus* fathers, however, interactions with neonates during the early postpartum period, likely involving physical contact, stimulate neurogenesis in the hippocampus and olfactory bulb, mediated by prolactin (Mak and Weiss 2010). These newly generated neurons respond preferentially to odors from the father's adult offspring and are thought to be involved in kin recognition. Further studies of effects of fatherhood and of so-called "paternal hormones" on sensory plasticity might yield fascinating insights into the proximate control of paternal behavior.

#### 4 Hormonal and Neuropeptide Influences on Paternal Care

Similar to the multiplicity of sensory modalities involved in parental behavior, reviewed above, paternal care involves a confluence of changes in endocrine and neuropeptide signaling acting on multiple sites throughout the brain to orchestrate infant-directed behavior. Many studies in rodents and primates have identified hormonal fluctuations in males during the transition into fatherhood. In most cases, however, these changes have not been shown to have causal effects on the expression of paternal care (reviewed in Saltzman and Ziegler 2014) (Table 1).

Below we briefly review findings on potential neuroendocrine influences on paternal behavior and its underlying neural circuitry. We focus on several categories of steroid hormones (androgens, estrogens, progestagens, glucocorticoids), the peptide hormone prolactin, and the neuropeptides arginine vasopressin (AVP) and oxytocin, all of which have been implicated in paternal behavior in mammals. For each of these signaling systems, we first describe observed changes across reproductive states in fathers and correlations between hormone or neuropeptide levels and paternal behavior. Several recent papers provide detailed reviews of hormonal changes in mammalian fathers (Bales and Saltzman 2016; Gettler 2014; Saltzman and Ziegler 2014; Storey and Ziegler 2016); therefore, we discuss this topic rather briefly. We then review experimental evidence, where available, that these changes influence paternal care. Finally, we discuss known or postulated effects of these hormonal and neuropeptide changes on the neural circuitry underlying paternal care.

Table 1 Change	es in circulating or excrete	ed hormone leve	els of male mamma	als during the transition i	into fatherhood		
Species	Androgens	Estrogens	Progesterone	Prolactin	Vasopressin	Oxytocin	Glucocorticoids
Norway rat ( <i>Rattus</i> norvegicus)	pu	pu	pu	nd	pu	pu	pu
House mouse (Mus musculus)	pu	pu	h	h	pu	pu	pu
California mouse (Peromyscus californicus)	No change (Gubernick and Nelson 1989), decrease (Trainor et al. 2003)	ри	Decrease (Trainor et al. 2003)	Increase (Gubernick and Nelson 1989)	pu	Decrease (compared to expectant fathers, Gubernick et al. 1995), no change (compared to virgins, Gubernick et al. 1995)	No change (Chauke et al. 2011; Harris et al. 2013)
Prairie vole (Microtus ochrogaster)	ри	pu	h	nd	pu	pu	No change (Campbell et al. 2009)
Campbell's dwarf hamster ( <i>Phodopus</i> <i>campbelli</i> )	No change (Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005), decrease (Reburn and Wynne- Edwards 1999)	No change (Schum and Wynne- Edwards 2005)	Increase (Schum and Wynne- Edwards 2005)	Increase (Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999)	pu	bu	Decrease (Reburn and Wynne- Edwards 1999)
Djungarian hamster (Phodopus sungorus)	Decrease (Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999; Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005)	Decrease (Schum and Wynne- Edwards 2005)	No change (Schum and Wynne- Edwards 2005)	No change (Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999)	pu	bu	No change (Reburn and Wynne- Edwards 1999)
Mongolian gerbil ( <i>Meriones</i> unguiculatus)	Decrease (Brown et al. 1995)	nd	pu	Increase (Brown et al. 1995)	pu	nd	pu

					change vanaugh French 3)	change gler et al. ))	
pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	No (Ca and 201	No (Zie 200	pu
pu	nd	pu	pu	pu	nd	pu	pu
pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	pu	pu
pu	Increase (Schradin 2008)	pu	No change (but increases with infant contact: Mota and Sousa 2000; Mota et al. 2006), increase (Schradin et al. 2003)	nd	pu	No change (Ziegler et al. 2000)	Increase (Schradin et al. 2003)
pu	pu	pu	pu	ри	pu	pu	pu
pu	pu	nd	ри	Decrease (Nunes et al. 2000)	No change (Cavanaugh and French 2013)	nd	pu
No change (Luis et al. 2009)	Decrease (Schradin and Yuen 2011)	ри	Decrease (Ziegler et al. 2009b)	Decrease (Nunes et al. 2000)	No change (Cavanaugh and French 2013)	No change (Ziegler et al. 2000)	pu
Volcano mouse (Neotomodon alstoni)	Striped mouse (Rhabdomys pumilio)	Mandarin vole (Microtus mandarinus)	Common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus)	Wied's black- tufted-ear marmoset (Callithrix kuhlii)	White-faced marmoset ( <i>Callithrix</i> <i>geoffroyi</i> )	Cotton-top tamarin (Saguinus oedipus)	Titi monkey (Callicebus cupreus)

Species	Androgens	Estrogens	Progesterone	Prolactin	Vasopressin	Oxytocin	Glucocorticoids
Human (Homo	No change (Magid 2011) decrease	pu	Increase (Berg and Wynne-	nd	No change (Grav et al	No change (Gray et al 2007)	No change (Grav et al
sapiens)	(Alvergne et al. 2009;		Edwards 2001),		2007)		2007), decrease
	Berg and Wynne-		decrease (Sto-				(Berg and
	Edwards 2001; Gettler		rey et al. 2000)				Wynne-
	et al. 2011, 2013;						Edwards 2001)
	Kuzawa et al. 2009;						
	Gray et al. 2002,						
	2006; Gray and						
	Campbell 2009; Sto-						
	rey et al. 2000; Van						
	Anders and Gray						
	2007)						
	•		•	:	-		

Table 1 (continued)

Data from both longitudinal and cross-sectional designs are included. "Increase" and "decrease" refer to hormone levels of fathers at any time point after parturition compared to any time point before parturition or in non-fathers (e.g., virgins or mated males that have not produced offspring). nd no data

### 4.1 Androgens

#### 4.1.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Androgen Signaling

Males in many species undergo decreases in circulating or urinary testosterone levels around the time of their mates' parturition. Among rodents, studies of biparental Campbell's dwarf hamsters, Mongolian gerbils, and California mice, as well as uniparental Djungarian hamsters (*Phodopus sungorus*), have found lower plasma testosterone levels in fathers after parturition than during their mates' gestation, before pairing, and/or virgin controls (Brown et al. 1995; Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999; Trainor et al. 2003). Other studies, however, have found no differences in plasma testosterone levels of fathers, mated males before parturition, and/or virgin controls in these same biparental species (Gubernick and Nelson 1989; Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999; Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005) as well as in the biparental volcano mouse (*Neotomodon alstoni*) (Luis et al. 2009). Some of these disparities may be due to the lack of daily sampling, circadian effects on androgen levels, and/or the pooling of data from multiple days or weeks for analysis.

Among nonhuman primates, endocrine correlates of and influences on paternal care have been studied primarily in the New World callitrichid monkeys (marmosets and tamarins). Common marmosets and black-tufted-ear marmosets (C. kuhlii) have been reported to exhibit decreases in plasma or urinary testosterone levels from before to after their mates' parturition (Ziegler et al. 2009b; Nunes et al. 2000). Consistent with these findings, urinary testosterone levels and infant-carrying are negatively correlated in black-tufted-ear marmoset fathers (Nunes et al. 2001), and exposure to infant scents decreases plasma testosterone in experienced, but not inexperienced, common marmoset fathers (Prudom et al. 2008; Ziegler et al. 2009a). Other studies, however, report no change in testosterone levels in common marmosets, white-faced marmosets (C. geoffroyi), and cotton-top tamarins (Cavanaugh and French 2013; Dixson and George 1982; Ziegler and Snowdon 2000), and two studies found elevated urinary testosterone and dihydrotestosterone levels in the final month(s) of their mate's gestation in cotton-top tamarins (Ziegler and Snowdon 2000; Ziegler et al. 2004). Importantly, marmosets and tamarins typically undergo postpartum ovulation (Digby et al. 2007); consequently, the gestation and lactation periods may overlap substantially, complicating the interpretation of changes in males' endocrine function across reproductive stages.

Studies of humans, both cross-sectional and longitudinal, have found reduced salivary or plasma testosterone concentrations in fathers compared to non-fathers in a wide range of countries and cultures (reviewed by Gettler 2014; Storey and Ziegler 2016). Both within and between cultures, testosterone levels often correlate negatively with the amount of time men spend with their children, especially the amount of time in positive interactions. Although causality cannot be inferred from these correlational findings, several experimental studies have found that exposure to infant cues associated with negative affect (e.g., distress cries, sad facial expressions)

acutely elevate fathers' testosterone levels, especially when the fathers are not able to comfort the infant (see Storey and Ziegler 2016). Thus, engaging in caretaking behavior, rather than fatherhood per se, may suppress testosterone concentrations in human fathers.

# 4.1.2 Effects of Androgen Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Androgens can influence the expression of paternal behavior through both long-term organizational effects originating during early stages of development and acute activational effects later in life; however, these effects differ both within and among species. For example, early-life exposure to androgens reduces adult levels of alloparental responsiveness in male rats (McCullough et al. 1974; Rosenberg and Herrenkohl 1976) but increases alloparental responsiveness in adult male prairie voles (Kramer et al. 2009; Lonstein et al. 2002; reviewed in Bales and Saltzman 2016).

Activational effects of androgens on paternal responsiveness, like organizational effects, vary within and among species. In rats, administration of testosterone increases infanticide in males that were castrated in adulthood (Lubin et al. 1972; Rosenberg 1974; Rosenblatt et al. 1996). In California mouse fathers, on the other hand, castration reduces and testosterone replacement restores paternal and/or allopaternal behavior, an effect mediated, in large part, by aromatization of testosterone to estrogen (Trainor and Marler 2002). Similarly, in Mongolian gerbils housed in same-sex groups, testosterone increases allopaternal responsiveness in virgin males castrated in adulthood; however, treatment with either estrogen or dihydrotestosterone (which cannot be aromatized) has the same effect, suggesting that stimulatory effects of androgens in this species do not require aromatization (Martinez et al. 2015). Interestingly, opposite - i.e., inhibitory - effects of testosterone have been found in virgin male gerbils housed with a lactating female (Clark and Galef 1999). Studies of prairie voles have likewise yielded mixed results: castration either reduces (Wang and De Vries 1993) or does not alter (Lonstein and De Vries 1999) responses to unrelated pups in virgin males. Finally, castration did not alter paternal behavior in a study of Campbell's dwarf hamster fathers (Hume and Wynne-Edwards 2005).

Little is known about the neurobiological effects of androgen signaling that mediate paternal care, though substantial research has investigated effects of androgen signaling in limbic circuitry, including regions considered to be part of the parental-care circuitry. Androgen receptors are widely distributed in rat brain, including the limbic areas of canonical parental-care circuitry and throughout the olfactory and auditory sensory systems (Kritzer 2004; Simerly et al. 1990). Cellular effects of testosterone, at least in uniparental rodents, include increasing spine densities (Cunningham et al. 2007; de Castilhos et al. 2008; Garelick and Swann 2014; Zancan et al. 2017); modulating signaling by dopamine, nitric oxide, and substance P (Dees and Kozlowski 1984; Du and Hull 1999; Du et al. 1998; Hadeishi

and Wood 1996; Malsbury and McKay 1994; Swann and Newman 1992); and altering Na+/K+-ATPase activity (Guerra et al. 1987). Whether any of these effects contribute to androgenic modulation of paternal care is not known.

Testosterone also exerts organizational effects in the MPOA, often studied in the context of sexual behavior. These effects include modulation of cell death, cell morphology, opiate receptor expression, volumes of subnuclei, and astrocytic development (Arai et al. 1994; Dodson and Gorski 1993; Dohler et al. 1984; Hammer 1985; Jacobson et al. 1981; Mong and McCarthy 1999; Reddy et al. 2015; Roselli et al. 2007, 2015). Androgen levels during development also influence vasopressin levels (see below) in the BNST (Han and De Vries 2003). At least some of these organizational effects of androgens are mediated by intracellular aromatization to estrogen and subsequent binding to estrogen receptors (McCarthy 2010). Again, it is unknown which of these testosterone- or estrogen-dependent processes, if any, affect expression of paternal care later in life.

#### 4.2 Estrogen

#### 4.2.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Estrogen Signaling

Fatherhood can influence both circulating estrogen levels and central expression of estrogen receptors in rodents. Plasma estradiol concentrations in California mouse fathers are significantly higher than those of virgin males in the early postpartum period but not the mid- or late postpartum period (Hyer et al. 2017). In the biparental Campbell's dwarf hamster, on the other hand, fathers exhibit no changes in plasma estradiol levels during the transition into fatherhood (Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005). Surprisingly, uniparental Djungarian hamster fathers undergo systematic fluctuations in plasma estradiol levels across reproductive stages: estradiol rises from before pairing to late gestation, decreases around parturition, and then significantly increases again at day 12 of the mate's lactation period (Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005). The biological significance of these changes is not clear, since fathers in this species do not provide parental care.

ER $\alpha$ -immunoreactivity in several brain regions studied (MPOA, MeA, BNST) does not change during the transition into fatherhood in either biparental or uniparental hamsters (Timonin et al. 2008). Similarly, ER $\alpha$  mRNA expression in the MPOA, MeA, and BNST does not differ between California mouse fathers and virgin males (Perea-Rodriguez et al. 2015), although fathers in this species have higher activity of aromatase, the enzyme that converts androgens to estrogens, in the MPOA than non-fathers (Trainor et al. 2003). Mandarin vole fathers, in contrast to both hamsters and California mice, have lower ER $\alpha$ -immunoreactivity in the MPOA and BNST and higher ER $\alpha$ -immunoreactivity in the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, central nucleus of the amygdala, and MeA than virgin males (Song et al. 2010).

Findings to date do not suggest a consistent relationship between estrogen levels and paternal status in nonhuman primates: male common marmosets exhibit no changes in plasma estrogen concentrations from before to after their mate's parturition, while black-tufted-ear marmosets exhibit a decline or strong trend for a decline in urinary estradiol after parturition (Nunes et al. 2000, 2001; Ziegler et al. 2009a, b). White-faced marmoset fathers exhibit no change in urinary estrogen levels 2–8 weeks postpartum; however, no data were collected prepartum (Cavanaugh and French 2013). In paternally experienced, but not inexperienced, cotton-top tamarin fathers, urinary estrogen and estrone levels increase during the mate's late pregnancy (Ziegler et al. 2004), with no data collected after parturition.

Few studies have investigated the relationship between estrogen and fatherhood in men. Fathers were reported to have higher salivary estradiol levels than age-matched non-fathers in a small, cross-sectional study (Berg and Wynne-Edwards 2001); however other studies have found a decrease in men's estradiol levels during the partner's pregnancy or after parturition (Edelstein et al. 2015; Storey et al. 2000). Finally, no changes in estradiol were seen 40 or 70 min after fathers interacted with their toddlers (Gettler et al. 2013).

# 4.2.2 Effects of Estrogen Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Estrogen signaling has been found to both enhance and inhibit paternal care in rodents. Implantation of 17\beta-estradiol-releasing capsules in the MPOA of virgin male rats decreases sensitization latencies (Rosenblatt and Ceus 1998), implicating the MPOA as a site of action for estrogenic activation of paternal care. In ICR mouse fathers, aromatase immunoreactivity is stimulated by cues from the female mate and, more potently, suppressed by cues from pups, in brain regions implicated in paternal care, including the MPOA, MeA, NAcc, and ventral pallidum (Akther et al. 2015). Further, suppression of estrogen synthesis by the aromatase inhibitor letrozole inhibits retrieval of related pups by these mouse fathers (Akther et al. 2015). Deletion of either the aromatase gene or the ER $\alpha$  gene increases rates of infanticide and/or decreases expression of paternal behavior in male mice, but whether these effects reflect disruption of estrogen signaling in early life or in adulthood is not clear (Matsumoto et al. 2003; Ogawa et al. 1998). Estrogen also facilitates paternal behavior in California mouse fathers, as stated above (Trainor and Marler 2002). The site of the stimulatory effect of estrogen in this species is not known; however, fathers have higher aromatase activity in the MPOA than males housed with females that have not yet produced a litter (Trainor et al. 2003).

In contrast to uniparental rats and mice, as well as biparental California mice, estrogen inhibits paternal behavior in adult male prairie voles in a site-specific manner: increasing ER $\alpha$  expression in the MeA via viral vector decreases allopaternal behavior (Cushing et al. 2008), while increasing ER $\alpha$  expression in the BNST via viral vector has no effect (Lei et al. 2010). Finally, neither castration nor treatment with an aromatase inhibitor alters paternal behavior in Campbell's

dwarf hamster fathers, suggesting that estrogen does not play an important role in the maintenance of paternal care in this biparental species (Hume and Wynne-Edwards 2005, 2006).

The specific cellular mechanisms by which estrogen influences paternal behavior in rats, California mice, prairie voles, and perhaps other species are not known. In general, estrogen can exert both slow effects on target cells by binding to intracellular receptors and inducing changes in gene transcription and rapid effects by binding to membrane receptors and altering cellular activity through nongenomic mechanisms (for reviews see Alexander et al. 2016; Arevalo et al. 2015; Kow and Pfaff 2016; Mani et al. 2012; McEwen et al. 2012; Pfaff et al. 2011). Acting through these mechanisms, estrogen can influence numerous characteristics of preoptic area neurons, including electrical activity, neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, neurotransmitter release, and cellular morphology (for reviews see Garcia-Galiano et al. 2012; Herbison 1997; Kelly et al. 2013; Ronnekleiv et al. 2012, Zhang et al. 2013). Estrogen modulates many signaling pathways in the preoptic area of rats, including GABAergic (Herbison 1997; Herbison et al. 1989, 1990), glutamatergic (Mahesh and Brann 2005), adrenergic (MacKinnon et al. 1985), noradrenergic (Kelly and Wagner 1999; Szawka et al. 2013), and oxytocinergic pathways (Caldwell et al. 1994; Champagne et al. 2001), among others (see Etgen and Pfaff 2010). In female rats, estrogen decreases excitability of MPOA neurons that project to the MeA (Yoshida et al. 1994). Thus, estrogen has many effects on neuronal signaling in the MPOA in at least some rodent species and therefore might alter activity of MPOA neurons that influence the occurrence of paternal care.

Although no research has been performed on males, intriguing studies have been conducted on the effects of estrogen and motherhood on responses to auditory cues in female rodents (Caras 2013; Liu and Schreiner 2007; Miranda and Liu 2009; Miranda et al. 2014). Estrogen receptors are located throughout the central auditory system in mice (Charitidi and Canlon 2010). In female mice and rats, ER $\alpha$  levels in the cochlea vary over the estrous cycle, as do behavioral responses to infant vocalizations (Charitidi et al. 2012; Ehret and Schmid 2009; Simonoska et al. 2009). Furthermore, estradiol has been implicated in the development of a preference for USVs in female mice (Koch and Ehret 1989). Aromatase and ERs are also expressed in the main and accessory olfactory bulbs of male rats and mice (e.g., Cherian et al. 2014; Dillon et al. 2013; Guo et al. 2001; Hoyk et al. 2014); however, their role in paternal care, if any, is unknown. Effects of hormones on sensory processing in fathers remain a promising area for further research.

### 4.3 Progesterone

#### 4.3.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Progesterone Signaling

Little is known about associations between paternal care and progesterone signaling. Plasma progesterone concentrations are lower in California mouse fathers 2–3 weeks after the birth of their pups than in virgin males (Trainor et al. 2003). In the same species, however, expression of progesterone receptor mRNA in the BNST is lower in fathers than in virgin males (Perea-Rodriguez et al. 2015). In the biparental Campbell's dwarf hamster, males' circulating progesterone levels are elevated on the day of their mates' parturition, whereas uniparental Djungarian male hamsters do not show any change in plasma progesterone levels throughout their mate's gestation and lactation (Schum and Wynne-Edwards 2005). Progesterone concentrations of human fathers do not change across their partners' pregnancy and have not been studied under baseline conditions during the postpartum period (Edelstein et al. 2015); however, salivary progesterone levels decrease in fathers 40 and 70 min after they play with their infants (Gettler et al. 2013).

# 4.3.2 Effects of Progesterone Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

In female rodents, high levels of progesterone typically inhibit maternal behavior during late pregnancy (Bridges 2015). Similarly, progesterone signaling increases infanticide and reduces paternal and allopaternal behavior in adult male house mice (Schneider et al. 2003, 2009). To our knowledge, however, effects of progesterone on paternal care have not been examined in biparental mammals.

The mechanism by which progesterone reduces paternal care in mice is unknown. Progesterone signaling modulates olfaction in the main and accessory olfactory bulbs, though a connection to parental care has yet to be made (Dey et al. 2015; Kanageswaran et al. 2016). Progesterone can also be metabolized into allopregnanolone, an allosteric modulator of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, in multiple nuclei, including the MPOA (for review see Henderson 2007). Interestingly, a recent genetic analysis of 32 primate species revealed that the biparental New World monkeys have progesterone response elements in the oxytocin receptor promoter region, implicating progestagenic regulation of oxytocin receptor expression in paternal care in this taxon (Vargas-Pinilla et al. 2015, 2017). Finally, estrogen and progesterone alter volumes of subregions of the MPOA in adult male rats (Bloch and Gorski 1988).

### 4.4 Glucocorticoids

#### 4.4.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Glucocorticoid Signaling

The glucocorticoid hormones (primarily cortisol and corticosterone) have a multitude of effects on physiology, cognition, affect, and behavior under both baseline and stressful conditions (Sapolsky et al. 2000) and therefore seem likely to influence paternal care. Baseline concentrations of glucocorticoids are notoriously difficult to measure, due to the pronounced sensitivity of glucocorticoid secretion to environmental and organismal influences such as time of day, physical activity, food intake, and stress. Such effects may contribute to differences both within and between studies. Correspondingly, perhaps, findings on associations between glucocorticoid signaling and fatherhood or parental care have been highly variable. Among biparental rodents, for example, male Campbell's dwarf hamsters show a transient elevation of circulating cortisol concentrations during their mate's mid-pregnancy (Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999), whereas basal corticosterone levels of male California mice and prairie voles do not differ between fathers and non-fathers (Campbell et al. 2009; Chauke et al. 2011; Harris et al. 2013). Further, repeated exposure of virgin male California mice enhances their paternal responsiveness to unrelated pups but does not alter either baseline plasma corticosterone levels or corticosterone responses to pups (Horrell et al. 2017).

Among nonhuman primates, urinary glucocorticoid levels of male cotton-top tamarins increase around the mate's mid or late pregnancy (Almond et al. 2008; Ziegler and Snowdon 2000; Ziegler et al. 2004) and are lower in experienced fathers living with multiple offspring than in new fathers or unmated males (Ziegler et al. 1996). In black-tufted-ear marmosets, males that carry infants at high rates have lower cortisol than males that carry infants at low rates. White-faced marmoset fathers exhibit no change in urinary cortisol levels 2–8 weeks postpartum, with no data before parturition (Cavanaugh and French 2013).

In humans, salivary cortisol levels of expectant fathers have been reported both to increase during the partner's late pregnancy (Berg and Wynne-Edwards 2001, 2002; Storey et al. 2000) and to remain unchanged throughout pregnancy (Edelstein et al. 2015). Moreover, some studies report no difference in salivary cortisol levels between fathers and non-fathers (Fleming et al. 2002; Gray et al. 2007), while others report lower morning cortisol concentrations in fathers compared to non-fathers (Berg and Wynne-Edwards 2001). Cortisol levels decrease after fathers spend 30 min with their toddlers (Storey et al. 2011).

# 4.4.2 Effects of Glucocorticoid Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Surprisingly little is known about effects of glucocorticoids on mammalian paternal behavior. In virgin male prairie voles, acute exposure to a swim stressor elevates circulating corticosterone concentrations and enhances paternal responsiveness to an unrelated pup; it is not known, however, whether the endocrine and behavioral consequences of the swim stressor are causally related (Bales et al. 2006). On the other hand, acute treatment of California mouse fathers with supraphysiological doses of corticosterone has little effect on pup-directed behavior (Harris et al. 2011). Moreover, exposure of California mouse fathers to a chronic variable stress paradigm can chronically elevate baseline corticosterone levels but causes only modest reductions in paternal care (Harris et al. 2013).

As there is very limited evidence to date that glucocorticoids affect paternal behavior, the relevant mechanisms mediating such effects remain poorly understood. However, research has begun to characterize effects of glucocorticoid signaling on social circuitry and behavior via genomic and nongenomic mechanisms (for reviews see de Kloet et al. 2008; Groeneweg et al. 2012; Haller et al. 2008).

#### 4.5 Prolactin

#### 4.5.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Prolactin Signaling

The anterior pituitary hormone prolactin has received significant interest as a "paternal hormone" (e.g., Hashemian et al. 2016; Schradin and Anzenberger 1999), as prolactin concentrations are elevated in mammalian fathers in numerous biparental species (e.g., rodents: Mongolian gerbils, California mice, and Campbell's dwarf hamsters [Brown et al. 1995; Gubernick and Nelson 1989; Reburn and Wynne-Edwards 1999]; primates: titi monkeys [*Callicebus cupreus*], Goeldi's monkeys [*Callimico goeldii*], common marmosets, and cotton-top tamarins [Ziegler et al. 1996; Dixson and George 1982; Schradin et al. 2003]). Prolactin levels can also be higher in experienced fathers than in first-time fathers (Ziegler et al. 1996, 2000, 2004), and acute changes in prolactin concentrations can occur in association with paternal care, especially tactile cues from infants. For example, common marmoset fathers have significantly higher plasma prolactin concentrations immediately after carrying their infants than at other times (Dixson and George 1982).

In humans, as in other biparental mammals, fathers have been reported to have higher baseline prolactin concentrations than non-fathers (Gettler et al. 2012), and baseline prolactin levels of fathers predict their emotional and behavioral responses to infants. For example, men with higher baseline prolactin concentrations have more positive feelings and more concern in response to infant cries and engage in more coordinated exploratory play with their infants (Fleming et al. 2002; Gordon et al. 2010; Storey et al. 2000). Human fathers also show acute changes in prolactin levels in response to interactions with or cues from infants; however, the direction of these changes is inconsistent: prolactin can either increase or decrease in response to stimuli such as hearing infant cries or holding an infant, effects that can be

modulated by the fathers' parity or previous experience with infants (Delahunty et al. 2007; Fleming et al. 2002, 2011).

# 4.5.2 Effects of Prolactin Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Prolactin promotes the onset of sensitized paternal behavior in virgin male rats (Sakaguchi et al. 1996). Studies in biparental mammals, however, have failed to support a stimulatory effect of prolactin on paternal care. In Campbell's dwarf hamster, treatment of first-time fathers with either bromocriptine, which antagonizes both the D1 and D2 dopamine receptors, or cabergoline, a selective D2 agonist, 1–3 days before the birth of their pups successfully reduces peripheral prolactin concentrations but does not impair paternal behavior (Brooks et al. 2005). Similarly, treatment of common marmoset fathers with cabergoline does not impair the expression of paternal behavior (Almond et al. 2006). Treatment of parentally inexperienced common marmosets with bromocriptine did reduce infant-carrying; however, only two males, including one juvenile and one adult, were tested (Roberts et al. 2001). Thus, in spite of the weight of published evidence documenting a positive association between prolactin and paternal behavior, experiments that pharmacologically reduce prolactin signaling in naturally paternal animal models do not support a causal link.

### 4.6 Vasopressin

#### 4.6.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Arginine Vasopressin Signaling

The neuropeptide AVP acts both peripherally, where it plays a key role in regulation of fluid volume and the stress response, and centrally, where it influences aggressive and affiliative behaviors, affect, and cognition (Caldwell et al. 2008; Zimmermann-Peruzatto et al. 2015). Numerous correlational and experimental studies in several biparental rodents have implicated AVP, especially vasopressinergic projections from the MeA and BNST to the lateral septum and lateral habenular nucleus, in regulating paternal care (reviewed by Bales and Saltzman 2016; Frazier et al. 2006; Perkeybile and Bales 2017; Saltzman et al. 2017). Both within and among species, paternal behavior correlates with expression of AVP and/or AVP V1a receptors. For example, prairie vole fathers have reduced densities of AVP-immunoreactive fibers in the lateral septum and lateral habenular nucleus compared to virgin males and males housed with a pregnant mate, apparently due to increased synthesis and release of AVP from the BNST and MeA following both copulation and parturition (Bamshad et al. 1993, 1994). AVP expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus also correlates with paternal behavior in prairie voles (Perkeybile et al. 2013, 2015), mandarin voles (Wang et al. 2014), and California mice (De Jong et al. 2012; Frazier et al. 2006), generally showing a negative relationship that may be associated with stress, anxiety, and/or activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (reviewed by Saltzman et al. 2017).

Few studies have examined the relationship between AVP and fatherhood in either nonhuman or human primates. In common marmosets, fathers have greater expression of AVP V1a receptors in the prefrontal cortex than non-fathers (Kozorovitskiy et al. 2006), whereas in humans, urinary AVP concentrations do not differ between fathers and non-fathers but are negatively correlated with the age of a father's youngest child (Gray et al. 2007). Urinary and circulating AVP levels likely reflect peripheral, rather than central, secretion, and AVP does not readily cross the blood-brain barrier; hence, the neural and behavioral relevance of these levels is not clear.

# 4.6.2 Effects of AVP Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Experimental manipulations of vasopressinergic signaling support a role of this neuropeptide system in paternal or allopaternal behavior. In both biparental prairie et al. 1994) and facultatively paternal meadow voles voles (Wang (*M. pennsylvanicus*) (Parker et al. 2001), infusion of AVP into the cerebral ventricles or lateral septum increases allopaternal behavior in adult virgin males, whereas similar treatment with AVP antagonists has the opposite effect. Manipulations of AVP (and oxytocin; see below) in nonhuman primates and humans have typically involved intranasal administration of the neuropeptide; however, the physiological relevance of this technique, as well as its efficacy in delivering neuropeptides to the brain, is controversial (Fortuna et al. 2014; Leng and Ludwig 2016). Intranasal AVP treatment of expectant human fathers increased interest in infant-related stimuli (baby-related avatars) in an immersive virtual environment (Cohen-Bendahan et al. 2015); however, intranasal AVP had no effect on fathers' responses to infant-related stimuli in another study of men (Li et al. 2017) and in a study of common marmosets (Taylor and French 2015). Effects of AVP on paternal behavior have not, to our knowledge, been examined directly in other species.

Very little is known about how vasopressinergic signaling modulates transduction or processing of infant-related stimuli and/or activity in the parental-care circuitry. AVP and its receptors are found in many nuclei (Barberis and Tribollet 1996; Kato et al. 1995); however, specific effects of AVP on specific neural substrates of paternal care have not been identified in any species.

### 4.7 Oxytocin

#### 4.7.1 Effects of Fatherhood on Oxytocin Signaling

Like its sister neuropeptide, AVP, oxytocin acts both in the periphery, where it is essential for parturition and milk letdown, and in the brain, where it plays key roles in affiliative and maternal behavior, affect, and social cognition (Caldwell and Albers 2016). Studies of the prosocial effects of oxytocin have traditionally focused on females, whereas those on AVP have focused on males; however, recent evidence has implicated oxytocin in the expression of parental behavior in both sexes.

Oxytocin signaling differs between fathers and virgin males in several biparental and facultatively biparental rodent species, but not in a consistent manner. For example, mandarin vole fathers have higher numbers of oxytocin-immunoreactive fibers in the PVN and SON than virgin males (Song et al. 2010), and several studies of this species have found correlations between paternal behavior and oxytocin-immunoreactivity in the supraoptic nucleus and/or paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Li et al. 2015; Song et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2014). Paternally behaving meadow vole fathers have higher oxytocin receptor binding in several brain areas, including the BNST and lateral septum, than non-allopaternally behaving virgin males (Parker et al. 2001), whereas California mouse fathers have lower expression of oxytocin receptor mRNA in the BNST compared to virgins (Perea-Rodriguez et al. 2015). Studies of oxytocinimmunoreactivity and oxytocin receptor binding in prairie voles have yielded inconsistent results (Kenkel et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2000). Importantly, where differences between fathers and virgins have been detected, males differed not only in paternal experience but also in sexual experience and/or cohabitation with a female, which appears to contribute to differences in oxytocin signaling. Thus, effects of fatherhood per se on oxytocin signaling are not clear.

In a study examining in vitro hypothalamic release of several neurocrines in common marmosets, cultured hypothalamic explants from fathers released significantly more oxytocin (and significantly less dopamine) than those from virgin males; in contrast, AVP release did not differ between the groups (Woller et al. 2011). Salivary and/or oxytocin concentrations in human fathers rise during the first 6 months of fatherhood (Gordon et al. 2010), can be increased acutely by interactions with infants (Feldman et al. 2010), and correlate with several affiliative components of father-infant interactions (Gordon et al. 2010).

#### 4.7.2 Effects of Oxytocin Signaling on Paternal Care and the Underlying Neural Circuitry

Surprisingly few experimental studies have evaluated effects of oxytocin on paternal or allopaternal behavior in animal models. In a recent, unpublished study of prairie voles, however, the oxytocin receptor antagonist L-368,899 acutely inhibited

allopaternal behavior in a dose-dependent manner (see Kenkel et al. 2017), while intranasal oxytocin (but not AVP) treatment increases interest in infant-related stimuli in adult male marmosets. In men, intranasal administration of oxytocin to fathers acutely enhances several components of father-infant interactions, such as positive vocalizations toward and touching of the infant. Several authors have suggested that interactions between oxytocin and paternal behavior may be modulated or mediated by steroid hormones (testosterone, Gordon et al. 2017; progesterone, Vargas-Pinilla et al. 2017).

Very little is known about how oxytocin signaling modulates transduction or processing of infant-related stimuli and/or activity in the paternal-care circuitry in males. The densest collections of oxytocin-containing cell bodies are in the supra-optic nucleus and paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, although cell bodies can also be found in other hypothalamic nuclei and BNST of some species (Sofroniew 1983; Wang et al. 1996). Oxytocin fibers and/or receptors can be found throughout almost the entire brain, including regions critical for parental care such as the main and accessory olfactory bulbs, amygdala, and mesolimbic limbic reward circuitry (Lee et al. 2009; Ross and Young 2009). Oxytocin can be released both synaptically and non-synaptically, which is thought to result in diffuse activation of receptors (Landgraf and Neumann 2004).

One theory of how oxytocin influences parental care is that it reduces the sensitivity of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors to steroids such as allopregnanolone, thus decreasing inhibitory tone in the parental-care circuitry (Koksma et al. 2003). Oxytocin may also act largely in the amygdala to reduce anxiety and neophobia around infants (Bale et al. 2001). Systemic oxytocin administration generally decreases basal- and stress-induced activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, which may facilitate parental care (reviewed by Landgraf and Neumann 2004). Oxytocin, perhaps originating from the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, can also act in the main olfactory bulbs to facilitate maternal care in rats; however, no experiments have been performed in males (Yu et al. 1996a, b).

### 5 Experiential Influences on Paternal Care and Neural Plasticity

Parental care exhibited by adult males can be influenced by a multitude of experiences occurring during prenatal, early postnatal, and juvenile development and into adulthood. A comprehensive discussion of these factors is beyond the scope of this chapter (but see Saltzman et al. 2017). Briefly, experiential influences on paternal behavior in rodents include intrauterine position (i.e., the number of adjacent brothers during prenatal development), quality and/or amount of parental care received, exposure to younger siblings, stress, cues from the mate and pups, and prior paternal experience. In some cases, these influences are associated with changes in hormonal (e.g., testosterone) or neuropeptide (e.g., AVP, oxytocin) signaling in fathers. Much less is known about experiential effects in primates, but prior experience with infants affects responses of adult males to infant-related stimuli in common marmosets and humans (Storey and Ziegler 2016; Ziegler and Sosa 2016; Ziegler et al. 2009a).

Fatherhood can modulate plasticity in brain regions subserving cognitive, affective, and sensory functions in rodents and primates. Glasper et al. (2011) used the cell-division marker bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) to evaluate patterns of neurogenesis in male California mice and found evidence that fatherhood inhibits neurogenesis in the hippocampus but not in the subventricular zone. A subsequent study by the same group (Hyer et al. 2016) found that proliferation of new cells in the dentate gyrus did not differ between non-fathers and fathers; however, fathers had reduced 1-week survival but increased 2-week survival of new neurons in the dentate gyrus, as well as a greater proportion of cells with a neuronal phenotype, effects that appear to be estrogen-dependent (Hyer et al. 2017). Franssen et al. (2011), in contrast, found no differences between California mouse fathers and virgin males in indices of hippocampal plasticity, including markers of cell proliferation, number of new neurons, restructuring in mature neurons, or astrocytes.

Fatherhood can also modulate neural plasticity in prairie voles. Lieberwirth et al. (2013) found evidence that fatherhood reduces the survival of new cells in the amygdala, dentate gyrus, and ventromedial hypothalamus, but not in the basolateral amygdala or main olfactory bulbs. In the house mouse, interactions of an adult male with its own pups increase neurogenesis in the father's subventricular zone and dentate gyrus, an effect mediated by prolactin signaling (Mak and Weiss 2010). Some of the new cells mature into olfactory interneurons in the olfactory bulb, where, as described above, they respond preferentially to odors from offspring and appear to function in recognition of mature offspring. Exposure to pups can elicit hippocampal cell proliferation in virgin prairie voles (Ruscio et al. 2008).

In the common marmoset, fatherhood increases spine density on pyramidal neurons in the prefrontal cortex (Kozorovitskiy et al. 2006). Human fathers show increased neural activation in response to pictures of children in several brain regions associated with processing of emotional facial expressions (caudal middle frontal gyrus), mentalizing (temporoparietal junction), and reward processing (medial orbitofrontal cortex), compared to non-fathers (Mascaro et al. 2014).

In sum, these findings from rodents and primates demonstrate that fatherhood can modulate proliferation and survival of neurons, as well as neuronal morphology, in several limbic structures, with pronounced differences among species in both the sites and mechanisms of plasticity. Given the effects of hormones, such as estrogens, on synaptic plasticity in brain areas such as the hippocampus (e.g., Ogiue-Ikeda et al. 2008), it is likely that hormones associated with paternal behavior may also have effects on synapses of the MPOA during the transition to fatherhood.

### 6 Conclusions and Future Directions

Much work remains to be done to validate, refine, and expand current theories of parental-care circuitry and to elucidate the mechanisms by which activity in this circuitry is modulated by sensory, hormonal, neuropeptide, and experiential factors. Parental-care circuit diagrams have been built mostly by decades of non-cell-type-specific examinations of certain nuclei, including knife cuts, electrolytic lesions, excitotoxic lesions, kindling, electrical stimulation, delivery of various chemicals via intracranial cannula, and quantification of immediate-early gene expression. While these techniques demonstrate that the activity of particular brain regions can affect parental behavior, we know little about which cell types within those regions are involved, what the properties and connectivities of those cell types are, and what plasticity occurs in those particular cells, if any, during the transition into fatherhood.

Future research should identify and characterize specific types of neurons in nuclei that have been implicated in paternal care. For example, optogenetic and chemogenetic techniques can target specific cell types based on gene expression and/or connectivity. To the best of our knowledge, only one study has been conducted using optogenetics to target a specific cell type in terms of either connectivity or gene expression (rather than all the cells in a particular brain region) and examine effects on paternal behavior (Wu et al. 2014). Colocalizing an immunohistochemical or in situ hybridization immediate-early gene signal with another immunohistochemical or in situ hybridization signal in individual animals that have or have not been exposed to infants will also increase our understanding of the cell-type-specific signaling within brain regions implicated in paternal care. New transgenics and gene silencing/inducible knockout techniques can also be used. Localization of immediate-early gene expression after pup exposure in combination with anterograde or retrograde tracers would also be useful in elucidating neural pathways associated with paternal care. With a contemporary toolkit, much will be revealed about the neuroendocrine basis of paternal care that was hidden previously, and paternal-care circuit diagrams will be much refined.

While several brain regions have been implicated strongly in paternal care, very little is known about how specific cell types in these regions change in terms of their gene-expression profiles, morphological properties, and electrophysiological characteristics during the transition into fatherhood. At an even more fundamental level, the MPOA, like many other brain regions, is also poorly characterized in terms of its basic synaptic, intrinsic, and morphological properties. An understanding of these circuit-level characteristics and how they change during the transition to fatherhood is vital for any understanding of larger issues of neural systems or sensory, hormonal, neuropeptide, or experiential influences. Recent preliminary data from California mice demonstrate that such properties can be recorded from MPOA slices and that these circuit properties undergo detectable changes in in fathers (Horrell et al. 2016).

Beyond mammals, a "common core" of paternal-care circuitry may exist across vertebrate taxa. For example, manipulating activity in the preoptic area can affect paternal care in rodents, fish, and birds (Demski and Knigge 1971; Slawski and Buntin 1995; Tsuneoka et al. 2015). If such a "common core" exists, an explanation of how different infant-related sensory information gets funneled into this circuitry and how different parental behaviors emerge from it is needed. These are type-token distinctions: the "types" are infant-related sensory cues and parental-care behavior, and the "tokens" are distinct sensory information and distinct parental-care behaviors of various species. To give a particular example supported by experimental evidence, how does stimulating the preoptic area lead to suppression of infanticide and stimulation of pup grooming in male mice while leading to nest building in male cichlid bluegill (Lepomis macrochirus) (Demski and Knigge 1971; Fisher 1956; Wu et al. 2014)? As another example, how does lesioning the preoptic area in male mice decrease pup retrieval while lesioning it in male ring doves (Streptopelia risoria) decreases feeding invitations and bouts of feeding (Slawski and Buntin 1995; Tsuneoka et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2014)? The differences in circuitry across taxa that result in the activation of the same hypothalamic nuclei to produce quite different behavioral tokens of the same behavioral type is unknown and is one of the major frontiers in current neuroscience.

Multifunctionality of neurons should be considered as well. Should certain neurons that are active in parental care be considered particular "parental-care" neurons rather than general "prosocial behavior" neurons? For example, while MPOA lesions disrupt paternal care in a number of species, they also disrupt sexual behavior in every species studied thus far (Numan 2014). In fact, recent evidence using compartment analysis of temporal activity by catFISH suggests 20-30% overlap between neurons in the MPOA of mice that express fos during parental care and during sexual behavior (Wu et al. 2014). What are the exact neurons in the MPOA responsible for parental behavior vs. sexual behavior? What causes an MPOA neuron to express fos during parental-care and not during sexual behavior? What causes another MPOA neuron to express fos during both parental care and sexual behavior? Because of the likely multifunctionality of many neurons, analogous to genetic pleiotropy, structures and pathways identified as part of the "parental-care circuitry" may in fact be components of a more general "social circuitry" or other type of circuitry (Goodson and Kabelik 2009; Goodson and Kingsbury 2013). Moreover, within the general "parental-care circuitry" there are more specific circuits for different types of infant-directed behavior. For example, Rosenblatt and Mayer (1995) have posited theories of approach and withdrawal circuitries, and Numan (2014) has proposed theories of appetitive (e.g., retrieval) and consummatory (e.g., thermoregulating and grooming) circuitries in rodents. Thus, we should try not only to differentiate parental-care circuitry from other social circuitries but also to distinguish subtypes of parental-care circuitry. We should also specifically investigate multifunctionality, overlap, and communication between different circuits, as such inquiry may allow us to better understand phenomena like pseudokinship and alloparental care (conflations of kin and non-kin stimuli) and disorders of sociality such as infantile paraphilia and chronophilia (conflations of parental care-inducing and copulation-inducing stimuli).

**Acknowledgments** We thank the many current and former members of our labs who contributed to our own research described here. Our research was supported by NIH R21HD075021, NIH 1R21MH087806, NSF IOS1256572, and grants from the UC Riverside Academic Senate.

### References

- Ahdieh HB, Mayer AD, Rosenblatt JS (1987) Effects of brain antiestrogen implants on maternal behavior and on postpartum estrus in pregnant rats. Neuroendocrinology 46:522–531
- Akther S, Fakhrul AA, Higashida H (2014) Effects of electrical lesions of the medial preoptic area and the ventral pallidum on mate-dependent paternal behavior in mice. Neurosci Lett 570:21–25
- Akther S, Huang Z, Liang M, Zhong J, Fakhrul AA, Yuhi T, Lopatina O, Salmina AB, Yokoyama S, Higashida C, Tsuji T, Matsuo M, Higashida H (2015) Paternal retrieval behavior regulated by brain estrogen synthetase (aromatase) in mouse sires that engage in communicative interactions with pairmates. Front Neurosci 9:450
- Alexander A, Irving A, Harvey J (2016) Emerging roles for the novel estrogen-sensing receptor GPER1 in the CNS. Neuropharmacology 113:652–660
- Almond RE, Brown GR, Keverne EB (2006) Suppression of prolactin does not reduce infant care by parentally experienced male common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). Horm Behav 49: 673–680
- Almond RE, Ziegler TE, Snowdon CT (2008) Changes in prolactin and glucocorticoid levels in cotton-top tamarin fathers during their mate's pregnancy: the effect of infants and paternal experience. Am J Primatol 70:560–565
- Alvergne A, Faurie C, Raymond M (2009) Variation in testosterone levels and male reproductive effort: insight from a polygynous human population. Horm Behav 56:491–497
- Arai Y, Murakami S, Nishizuka M (1994) Androgen enhances neuronal degeneration in the developing preoptic area: apoptosis in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPvN-POA). Horm Behav 28:313–319
- Arevalo MA, Azcoitia I, Gonzalez-Burgos I, Garcia-Segura LM (2015) Signaling mechanisms mediating the regulation of synaptic plasticity and memory by estradiol. Horm Behav 74:19–27
- Bale TL, Davis AM, Auger AP, Dorsa DM, McCarthy MM (2001) CNS region-specific oxytocin receptor expression: importance in regulation of anxiety and sex behavior. J Neurosci 21: 2546–2552
- Bales KL, Kramer KM, Lewis-Reese AD, Carter CS (2006) Effects of stress on parental care are sexually dimorphic in prairie voles. Physiol Behav 87:424–429
- Bales KL, Saltzman W (2016) Fathering in rodents: neurobiological substrates and consequences for offspring. Horm Behav 77:249–259
- Bamshad M, Novak MA, De Vries GJ (1993) Sex and species differences in the vasopressin innervation of sexually naive and parental prairie voles, *Microtus ochrogaster* and meadow voles, *Microtus pennsylvanicus*. J Neuroendocrinol 5:247–255
- Bamshad M, Novak MA, de Vries GJ (1994) Cohabitation alters vasopressin innervation and paternal behavior in prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). Physiol Behav 56:751–758
- Barberis C, Tribollet E (1996) Vasopressin and oxytocin receptors in the central nervous system. Crit Rev Neurobiol 10:119–154
- Berg SJ, Wynne-Edwards KE (2001) Changes in testosterone, cortisol, and estradiol levels in men becoming fathers. Mayo Clin Proc 76:582–592
- Berg SJ, Wynne-Edwards KE (2002) Salivary hormone concentrations in mothers and fathers becoming parents are not correlated. Horm Behav 42:424–436
- Berk ML, Finkelstein JA (1981) Afferent projections to the preoptic area and hypothalamic regions in the rat brain. Neuroscience 6:1601–1624

Bloch GJ, Gorski RA (1988) Estrogen/progesterone treatment in adulthood affects the size of several components of the medial preoptic area in the male rat. J Comp Neurol 275:613–622

Blumberg MS, Sokoloff G (2001) Do infant rats cry? Psychol Rev 108:83–95

- Bosch OJ, Neumann ID (2012) Both oxytocin and vasopressin are mediators of maternal care and aggression in rodents: from central release to sites of action. Horm Behav 61:293–303
- Braun K, Champagne FA (2014) Paternal influences on offspring development: behavioural and epigenetic pathways. J Neuroendocrinol 26:697–706
- Bridges RS (1996) Biochemical basis of parental behavior in the rat. Adv Study Behav 25:215-242
- Bridges RS (2015) Neuroendocrine regulation of maternal behavior. Front Neuroendocrinol 36: 178–196
- Bridges RS, Freemark MS (1995) Human placental lactogen infusions into the medial preoptic area stimulate maternal behavior in steroid-primed, nulliparous female rats. Horm Behav 29: 216–226
- Bridges RS, Mann PE (1994) Prolactin-brain interactions in the induction of maternal behavior in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 19:611–622
- Bridges RS, Numan M, Ronsheim PM, Mann PE, Lupini CE (1990) Central prolactin infusions stimulate maternal behavior in steroid-treated, nulliparous female rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:8003–8007
- Brooks PL, Vella ET, Wynne-Edwards KE (2005) Dopamine agonist treatment before and after the birth reduces prolactin concentration but does not impair paternal responsiveness in Djungarian hamsters, *Phodopus campbelli*. Horm Behav 47:358–366
- Brouette-lahlou I, Amouroux R, Chastrette F, Cosnier J, Stoffelsma J, Vernet-maury E (1991a) Dodecyl propionate, attractant from rat pup preputial gland: characterization and identification. J Chem Ecol 17:1343–1354
- Brouette-lahlou I, Vernet-Maury E, Chanel J (1991b) Is rat-dam licking behavior regulated by pups' preputial gland secretion? Anim Learn Behav 19:177–184
- Brown RE (1993) Hormonal and experiential factors influencing paternal behaviour in male rodents: an integrative approach. Behav Processes 30:1–28
- Brown RE, Murdoch T, Murphy PR, Moger WH (1995) Hormonal responses of male gerbils to stimuli from their mate and pups. Horm Behav 29:474–491
- Brown RE, Aoki M, Ladyman SR, Phillipps HR, Wyatt A, Boehm U, Grattan DR (2017) Prolactin action in the medial preoptic area is necessary for postpartum maternal nursing behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:10779–10784
- Bruin RD, Ganswindt A, Roux AL (2016) From killer to carer: steroid hormones and paternal behaviour. Afr Zool 51:173–182
- Caldwell HK, Albers HE (2016) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and the motivational forces that drive social behaviors. In: Behavioral neuroscience of motivation. Springer International Publishing, Basel, pp 51–103
- Caldwell JD, Walker CH, Pedersen CA, Baraka AS, Mason GA (1994) Estrogen increases affinity of oxytocin receptors in the medial preoptic area-anterior hypothalamus. Peptides 15:1079–1084
- Caldwell HK, Lee HJ, Macbeth AH, Young WS (2008) Vasopressin: behavioral roles of an "original" neuropeptide. Prog Neurobiol 84:1–24
- Campbell JC, Laugero KD, Van Westerhuyzen JA, Hostetler CM, Cohen JD, Bales KL (2009) Costs of pair-bonding and paternal care in male prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). Physiol Behav 98:367–373
- Campeau S, Watson SJ (2000) Connections of some auditory-responsive posterior thalamic nuclei putatively involved in activation of the hypothalamo–pituitary–adrenocortical axis in response to audiogenic stress in rats: an anterograde and retrograde tract tracing study combined with fos expression. J Comp Neurol 423:474–491
- Canteras NS, Simerly RB, Swanson LW (1995) Organization of projections from the medial nucleus of the amygdala: a PHAL study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 360:213–245
- Caras ML (2013) Estrogenic modulation of auditory processing: a vertebrate comparison. Front Neuroendocrinol 34:285–299

- Cavanaugh J, French JA (2013) Post-partum variation in the expression of paternal care is unrelated to urinary steroid metabolites in marmoset fathers. Horm Behav 63:551–558
- Champagne F, Diorio J, Sharma S, Meaney MJ (2001) Naturally occurring variations in maternal behavior in the rat are associated with differences in estrogen-inducible central oxytocin receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:12736–12741
- Champagne FA, Chretien P, Stevenson CW, Zhang TY, Gratton A, Meaney MJ (2004) Variations in nucleus accumbens dopamine associated with individual differences in maternal behavior in the rat. J Neurosci 24:4113–4123
- Charitidi K, Canlon B (2010) Estrogen receptors in the central auditory system of male and female mice. J Neurosci 165:923–933
- Charitidi K, Meltser I, Canlon B (2012) Estradiol treatment and hormonal fluctuations during the estrous cycle modulate the expression of estrogen receptors in the auditory system and the prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle response. Endocrinology 153:4412–4421
- Chauke M, Malisch JL, Robinson C, de Jong TR, Saltzman W (2011) Effects of reproductive status on behavioral and endocrine responses to acute stress in a biparental rodent, the California mouse (*Peromyscus californicus*). Horm Behav 60:128–138
- Chen EM, Gau ML, Liu CY, Lee TY (2017) Effects of father-neonate skin-to-skin contact on attachment: a randomized controlled trial. Nurs Res Prect 2017:1–8
- Cherian S, Lam YW, McDaniels I, Struziak M, Delay RJ (2014) Estradiol rapidly modulates odor responses in mouse vomeronasal sensory neurons. J Neurosci 269:43–58
- Chiba T, Murata Y (1985) Afferent and efferent connections of the medial preoptic area in the rat: a WGA-HRP study. Brain Res Bull 14:261–272
- Clark MM, Galef BG Jr (1999) A testosterone-mediated trade-off between parental and sexual effort in male Mongolian gerbils (Meriones unguiculatus). J Comp Psychol 113:388–395
- Clutton-Brock TH (1991) The evolution of parental care. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ
- Cockburn A (2006) Prevalence of different modes of parental care in birds. Proc Biol Sci 273: 1375–1383
- Cohen-Bendahan CC, Beijers R, van Doornen LJ, de Weerth C (2015) Explicit and implicit caregiving interests in expectant fathers: do endogenous and exogenous oxytocin and vaso-pressin matter? Infant Behav Dev 41:26–37
- Conely L, Bell RW (1978) Neonatal ultrasounds elicited by odor cues. Dev Psychobiol 11:193-197
- Cong X, Ludington-Hoe SM, Hussain N, Cusson RM, Walsh S, Vazquez V, Briere CA, Vittner D (2015) Parental oxytocin responses during skin-to-skin contact in pre-term infants. Early Hum Dev 91:401–406
- Courtiol E, Wilson DA (2014) Thalamic olfaction: characterizing odor processing in the mediodorsal thalamus of the rat. J Neurophysiol 111:1274–1285
- Crump ML (1996) Parental care among the amphibia. In: Rosenblatt JS, Snowdon CT (eds) Parental care: evolution, mechanisms and adaptive significance, Advances in the study of behavior, vol 25. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 109–144
- Cruz R, Del Cerro M (1998) Role of the vomeronasal input in maternal behavior. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:905–926
- Cservenák M, Szabó ÉR, Bodnár I, Lékó A, Palkovits M, Nagy GM, Usdin TB, Dobolyi A (2013) Thalamic neuropeptide mediating the effects of nursing on lactation and maternal motivation. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:3070–3084
- Cservenák M, Kis V, Keller D, Dimén D, Menyhárt L, Oláh S, Szabó ER, Barna J, Renner E, Usdin TB, Dobolyi A (2017) Maternally involved galanin neurons in the preoptic area of the rat. Brain Struct Funct 222:781–798
- Cunningham RL, Claiborne BJ, McGinnis MY (2007) Pubertal exposure to anabolic androgenic steroids increases spine densities on neurons in the limbic system of male rats. Neuroscience 150:609–615
- Cushing BS, Perry A, Musatov S, Ogawa S, Papademetriou E (2008) Estrogen receptors in the medial amygdala inhibit the expression of male prosocial behavior. J Neurosci 28:10399–10403

- de Castilhos J, Claudia DF, Achaval M, Rasia-Filho AA (2008) Dendritic spine density of posterodorsal medial amygdala neurons can be affected by gonadectomy and sex steroid manipulations in adult rats: a Golgi study. Brain Res 1240:73–81
- De Jong TR, Chauke M, Harris BN, Saltzman W (2009) From here to paternity: neural correlates of the onset of paternal behavior in California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Horm Behav 56(2): 220–231
- De Jong TR, Measor KR, Chauke M, Harris BN, Saltzman W (2010) Brief pup exposure induces Fos expression in the lateral habenula and serotonergic caudal dorsal raphe nucleus of paternally experienced male California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Neuroscience 169:1094–1104
- De Jong TR, Korosi A, Harris BN, Perea-Rodriguez JP, Saltzman W (2012) Individual variation in paternal responses of virgin male California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*): behavioral and physiological correlates. Physiol Biochem Zool 85:740–751
- de Kloet ER, Karst H, Joëls M (2008) Corticosteroid hormones in the central stress response: quickand-slow. Front Neuroendocrinol 29:268–272
- De Olmos JS, Ingram WR (1972) The projection field of the stria terminalis in the rat brain. An experimental study. J Comp Neurol 146:303–333
- Dees WL, Kozlowski GP (1984) Effects of castration and ethanol on amygdaloid substance P immunoreactivity. Neuroendocrinology 39:231–235
- Delahunty KM, McKay DW, Noseworthy DE, Storey AE (2007) Prolactin responses to infant cues in men and women: effects of parental experience and recent infant contact. Horm Behav 51:213–220
- Demski LS, Knigge KM (1971) The telencephalon and hypothalamus of the bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*): evoked feeding, aggressive and reproductive behavior with representative frontal sections. J Comp Neurol 143:1–16
- Dey S, Chamero P, Pru JK, Chien MS, Ibarra-Soria X, Spencer KR, Logan DW, Matsunami H, Peluso JJ, Stowers L (2015) Cyclic regulation of sensory perception by a female hormone alters behavior. Cell 161:1334–1344
- Digby LJ, Ferrari SF, Saltzman W (2007) Callitrichines: the role of competition in cooperatively breeding species. In: Campbell JC, Fuentes A, MacKinnon KC, Panger M, Bearder SK (eds) Primates in perspective. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 85–105
- Dillon TS, Fox LC, Crystal H, Linster C (2013) 17β-estradiol enhances memory duration in the main olfactory bulb in CD-1 mice. Behav Neurosci 127:923–931
- Dixson AF, George L (1982) Prolactin and parental behaviour in a male new world primate. Nature 299:551–553
- Dobolyi A, Grattan DR, Stolzenberg DS (2014) Preoptic inputs and mechanisms that regulate maternal responsiveness. J Neuroendocrinol 26:627–640
- Dodson RE, Gorski RA (1993) Testosterone propionate administration prevents the loss of neurons within the central part of the medial preoptic nucleus. J Neurobiol 24:80–88
- Dohler KD, Coquelin A, Davis F, Hines M, Shryne JE, Gorski RA (1984) Pre- and postnatal influence of testosterone propionate and diethylstilbestrol on differentiation of the sexually dimorphic nucleus of the preoptic area in male and female rats. Brain Res 302:291–295
- Du J, Hull EM (1999) Effects of testosterone on neuronal nitric oxide synthase and tyrosine hydroxylase. Brain Res 836:90–98
- Du J, Lorrain DS, Hull EM (1998) Castration decreases extracellular, but increases intracellular, dopamine in medial preoptic area of male rats. Brain Res 782:11–17
- Dulac C, O'Connell LA, Wu Z (2014) Neural control of maternal and paternal behaviors. Science 345:765–770
- Edelstein RS, Wardecker BM, Chopik WJ, Moors AC, Shipman EL, Lin NJ (2015) Prenatal hormones in first-time expectant parents: longitudinal changes and within-couple correlations. Am J Hum Biol 27:317–325
- Ehret G (2005) Infant rodent ultrasounds a gate to the understanding of sound communication. Behav Genet 35:19–29

- Ehret G, Buckenmaier J (1994) Estrogen-receptor occurrence in the female mouse brain: effects of maternal experience, ovariectomy, estrogen and anosmia. J Physiol Paris 88:315–329
- Ehret G, Koch M (1989) Ultrasound-induced parental behavior in house mouse is controlled by female sex hormones and parental experience. Ethology 80:81–93
- Ehret G, Schmid C (2009) Reproductive cycle-dependent plasticity of perception of acoustic meaning in mice. Physiol Behav 96:428–433
- Elwood RW, Ostermeyer MC (1984) Infanticide by male and female Mongolian gerbils: ontogeny, causation, and function. In: Hausfater G, Hrdy SB (eds) Infanticide: comparative and evolutionary perspectives. Aldine, New York, pp 367–386
- Etgen AM, Pfaff DW (2010) Molecular mechanisms of hormone actions on behavior. Academic Press, Oxford
- Fahrbach SE, Morrell JI, Pfaff DW (1986) Identification of medial preoptic neurons that concentrate estradiol and project to the midbrain in the rat. J Comp Neurol 247:364–382
- Feldman R, Gordon I, Schneiderman I, Weisman O, Zagoory-Sharon O (2010) Natural variations in maternal and paternal care are associated with systematic changes in oxytocin following parent-infant contact. Psychoneuroendocrinology 35:1133–1141
- Fernandez-Duque E, Valeggia CR, Mendoza SP (2009) The biology of paternal care in human and nonhuman primates. Ann Rev Anthropol 38:115–130
- Fisher AE (1956) Maternal and sexual behavior induced by intracranial chemical stimulation. Science 123:228–229
- Fleischer S, Kordower JH, Kaplan B, Dicker R, Smerling R, Ilgner J (1981) Olfactory bulbectomy and gender differences in maternal behaviors of rats. Physiol Behav 26:957–959
- Fleming AS, Vaccarino F, Luebke C (1980) Amygdaloid inhibition of maternal behavior in the nulliparous female rat. Physiol Behav 25:731–743
- Fleming AS, Corter C, Stallings J, Steiner M (2002) Testosterone and prolactin are associated with emotional responses to infant cries in new fathers. Horm Behav 42:399–413
- Fortuna A, Alves G, Serralheiro A, Sousa J, Falcão A (2014) Intranasal delivery of systemic-acting drugs: small-molecules and biomacromolecules. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 88:8–27
- Franssen CL, Bardi M, Shea EA, Hampton JE, Franssen RA, Kinsley CH, Lambert KG (2011) Fatherhood alters behavioural and neural responsiveness in a spatial task. J Neuroendocrinol 23: 1177–1187
- Frazier CR, Trainor BC, Cravens CJ, Whitney TK, Marler CA (2006) Paternal behavior influences development of aggression and vasopressin expression in male California mouse offspring. Horm Behav 50:699–707
- Gammie SC (2005) Current models and future directions for understanding the neural circuitries of maternal behaviors in rodents. Behav Cog Neurosci Rev 4:119–135
- Garcia-Galiano D, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2012) Sex steroids and the control of the Kiss1 system: developmental roles and major regulatory actions. J Neuroendocrinol 24:22–33
- Gardner CR, Phillips SW (1977) The influence of the amygdala on the basal septum and preoptic area of the rat. Exp Brain Res 292:249–263
- Garelick T, Swann J (2014) Testosterone regulates the density of dendritic spines in the male preoptic area. Horm Behav 65(3):249–253
- Geisler S, Zahm DS (2006) Neurotensin afferents of the ventral tegmental area in the rat: [1] re-examination of their origins and [2] responses to acute psychostimulant and antipsychotic drug administration. Eur J Neurosci 24:116–134
- Geisler S, Derst C, Veh RW, Zahm DS (2007) Glutamatergic afferents of the ventral tegmental area in the rat. J Neurosci 27:5730–5743
- Gettler LT (2014) Applying socioendocrinology to evolutionary models: fatherhood and physiology. Evol Anthropol 23:146–160
- Gettler LT, McDade TW, Feranil AB, Kuzawa CW (2011) Longitudinal evidence that fatherhood decreases testosterone in human males. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:16194–16199
- Gettler LT, McDade TW, Feranil AB, Kuzawa CW (2012) Prolactin, fatherhood, and reproductive behavior in human males. Am J Phys Anthropol 148:362–370

- Gettler LT, McDade TW, Agustin SS, Kuzawa CW (2013) Progesterone and estrogen responsiveness to father-toddler interaction. Am J Hum Biol 25:491–498
- Geyer LA (1979) Olfactory and thermal influences on ultra-sonic vocalization during development in rodents. Am Zool 19:420–431
- Glasper ER, Kozorovitskiy Y, Pavlic A, Gould E (2011) Paternal experience suppresses adult neurogenesis without altering hippocampal function in *Peromyscus californicus*. J Comp Neurol 519:2271–2281
- Goodson JL, Kabelik D (2009) Dynamic limbic networks and social diversity in vertebrates: from neural context to neuromodulatory patterning. Front Neuroendocrinol 30:429–441
- Goodson JL, Kingsbury MA (2013) What's in a name? Considerations of homologies and nomenclature for vertebrate social behavior networks. Horm Behav 64:103–112
- Goodwin NB, Balshine-Earn S, Reynolds JD (1998) Evolutionary transitions in parental care in cichlid fish. Proc Biol Sci 265:2265–2272
- Gordon I, Zagoory-Sharon O, Leckman JF, Feldman R (2010) Prolactin, oxytocin, and the development of paternal behavior across the first six months of fatherhood. Horm Behav 58:513–518
- Gordon I, Pratt M, Bergunde K, Zagoory-Sharon O, Feldman R (2017) Testosterone, oxytocin, and the development of human parental care. Horm Behav 93:184–192
- Gray PB, Campbell BC (2009) Human male testosterone, pair-bonding, and fatherhood. In: Endocrinology of social relationships. In: Ellison PT, Gray PB (eds). Harvard University Press, Cambridge MA, pp 270–293
- Gray PB, Kahlenberg SM, Barrett ES, Lipson SF, Ellison PT (2002) Marriage and fatherhood are associated with lower testosterone in males. Evol Hum Behav 23:193–201
- Gray PB, Yang CFJ, Pope HG (2006) Fathers have lower salivary testosterone levels than unmarried men and married non-fathers in Beijing, China. Proc Biol Sci 273:333–339
- Gray PB, Parkin JC, Samms-Vaughan ME (2007) Hormonal correlates of human paternal interactions: a hospital-based investigation in urban Jamaica. Horm Behav 52:499–507
- Groeneweg FL, Karst H, de Kloet ER, Joëls M (2012) Mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors at the neuronal membrane, regulators of nongenomic corticosteroid signalling. Mol Cell Endocrinol 350:299–309
- Gross MR, Sargent RC (1985) The evolution of male and female parental care in fishes. Am Zool 25:807–822
- Gubernick DJ (1990) A maternal chemosignal maintains paternal behaviour in the biparental California mouse, *Peromyscus californicus*. Anim Behav 39:936–942
- Gubernick DJ, Alberts JR (1987) The biparental care system of the California mouse, *Peromyscus californicus*. J Comp Psychol 101:169–177
- Gubernick DJ, Alberts JR (1989) Postpartum maintenance of paternal behaviour in the biparental California mouse, *Peromyscus californicus*. Anim Behav 37:656–664
- Gubernick DJ, Nelson RJ (1989) Prolactin and paternal behavior in the biparental California mouse, *Peromyscus californicus*. Horm Behav 23:203–210
- Gubernick DJ, Winslow JT, Jensen P, Jeanotte L, Bowen J (1995) Oxytocin changes in males over the reproductive cycle in the monogamous, biparental California mouse, *Peromyscus* californicus. Horm Behav 29:59–73
- Guerra M, Del Castillo AR, Battaner E, Mas M (1987) Androgens stimulate preoptic area Na+,K+-ATPase activity in male rats. Neurosci Lett 78:97–100
- Guo XZ, Su JD, Sun QW, Jiao BH (2001) Expression of estrogen receptor (ER) -alpha and -beta transcripts in the neonatal and adult rat cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and olfactory bulb. Cell Res 11:321–324
- Guthman EM, Vera J (2016) A cellular mechanism for main and accessory olfactory integration at the medial amygdala. J Neurosci 36:2083–2085
- Hadeishi Y, Wood RI (1996) Nitric oxide synthase in mating behavior circuitry of male Syrian hamster brain. Dev Neurobiol 30:480–492
- Haller J, Mikics É, Makara GB (2008) The effects of non-genomic glucocorticoid mechanisms on bodily functions and the central neural system. A critical evaluation of findings. Front Neuroendocrinol 29:273–291

- Hammer RP Jr (1985) The sex hormone-dependent development of opiate receptors in the rat medial preoptic area. Brain Res 360:65–74
- Han TM, De Vries GJ (2003) Organizational effects of testosterone, estradiol, and dihydrotestosterone on vasopressin mRNA expression in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. J Neurobiol 54:502–510
- Hansen S (1994) Maternal behavior of female rats with 6-OHDA lesions in the ventral striatum: characterization of the pup retrieval deficit. Physiol Behav 55:615–620
- Hansen S, Harthon C, Wallin E, Lofberg L, Svensson K (1991) The effects of 6-OHDA-induced dopamine depletions in the ventral or dorsal striatum on maternal and sexual behavior in the female rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 39:71–77
- Hansen S, Bergvall ÅH, Nyiredi S (1993) Interaction with pups enhances dopamine release in the ventral striatum of maternal rats: a microdialysis study. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 45:673–676
- Harris BN, Perea-Rodriguez JP, Saltzman W (2011) Acute effects of corticosterone injection on paternal behavior in California mouse (Peromyscus californicus) fathers. Horm Behav 60:666–675
- Harris BN, de Jong TR, Yang V, Saltzman W (2013) Chronic variable stress in fathers alters paternal and social behavior but not pup development in the biparental California mouse (*Peromyscus californicus*). Horm Behav 64:799–811
- Hashemian F, Shafigh F, Roohi E (2016) Regulatory role of prolactin in paternal behavior in male parents: a narrative review. J Postgrad Med 62:182–187
- Henderson LP (2007) Steroid modulation of GABAA receptor-mediated transmission in the hypothalamus: effects on reproductive function. Neuropharmacology 52:1439–1453
- Herbison AE (1997) Estrogen regulation of GABA transmission in rat preoptic area. Brain Res Bull 44(4):321–326
- Herbison AE, Heavens RP, Dyer RG (1989) Oestrogen and noradrenaline modulate endogenous GABA release from slices of the rat medial preoptic area. Brain Res 486:195–200
- Herbison AE, Heavens RP, Dyer RG (1990) Endogenous release of gamma-aminobutyric acid from the medial preoptic area measured by microdialysis in the anaesthetised rat. J Neurochem 55: 1617–1623
- Hoover WB, Vertes RP (2007) Anatomical analysis of afferent projections to the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat. Brain Struct Funct 212:149–179
- Horrell N, Hickmott P, Luu D, Saltzman W (2016) Effects of fatherhood on synaptic, intrinsic, and morphological characteristics of neurons in the medial preoptic area of male California mice program no. 338.11.2016. Neuroscience meeting planner. Society for Neuroscience, San Diego, CA
- Horrell ND, Perea-Rodriguez JP, Harris BN, Saltzman W (2017) Effects of repeated pup exposure on behavioral, neural, and adrenocortical responses to pups in male California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Horm Behav 90:56–63
- Hoyk Z, Csakvari E, Gyenes A, Siklos L, Harada N, Parducz A (2014) Aromatase and estrogen receptor beta expression in the rat olfactory bulb: neuroestrogen action in the first relay station of the olfactory pathway? Acta Neurobiol Exp 74:1–14
- Hume JM, Wynne-Edwards KE (2005) Castration reduces male testosterone, estradiol, and territorial aggression, but not paternal behavior in biparental dwarf hamsters (*Phodopus campbelli*). Horm Behav 48:303–310
- Hume JM, Wynne-Edwards KE (2006) Paternal responsiveness in biparental dwarf hamsters (*Phodopus campbelli*) does not require estradiol. Horm Behav 49:538–544
- Hyer MM, Hunter TJ, Katakam J, Wolz T, Glasper ER (2016) Neurogenesis and anxiety-like behavior in male California mice during the mate's postpartum period. Eur J Neurosci 43: 703–709
- Hyer MM, Khantsis S, Venezia AC, Madison FN, Hallgarth L, Adekola E, Glasper ER (2017) Estrogen-dependent modifications to hippocampal plasticity in paternal California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Horm Behav 96:147–155

- Idborg H, Zamani L, Edlund P, Schuppe-Koistinen I, Jacobsson SP (2005) Metabolic fingerprinting of rat urine by LC/MS: part 1. Analysis by hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography–electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B 828:9–13
- Izquierdo MA, Collado P, Segovia S, Guillamon A, del Cerro MCR (1992) Maternal behavior induced in male rats by bilateral lesions of the bed nucleus of the accessory olfactory tract. Physiol Behav 52:707–712
- Jacobson CD, Csernus VJ, Shryne JE, Gorski RA (1981) The influence of gonadectomy, androgen exposure, or a gonadal graft in the neonatal rat on the volume of the sexually dimorphic nucleus of the preoptic area. J Neurosci 1:1142–1147
- Jean-Baptiste N, Terleph T, Bamshad M (2008) Changes in paternal responsiveness of prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*) in response to olfactory cues and continuous physical contact with a female. Ethology 114:1239–1246
- Jemiolo B, Andreolini F, Xie TM, Wiesler D, Novotny M (1989) Puberty-affecting synthetic analogs of urinary chemosignals in the house mouse, *Mus domesticus*. Physiol Behav 46:293–298
- Jemiolo B, Gubernick DJ, Catherine Yoder M, Novotny M (1994) Chemical characterization of urinary volatile compounds of *Peromyscus californicus*, a monogamous biparental rodent. J Chem Ecol 20:2489–2500
- Jennings JH, Sparta DR, Stamatakis AM, Ung RL, Pleil KE, Kash TL, Stuber GD (2013) Distinct extended amygdala circuits for divergent motivational states. Nature 496:224–228
- Jones JS, Wynne-Edwards KE (2000) Paternal hamsters mechanically assist the delivery, consume amniotic fluid and placenta, remove fetal membranes, and provide parental care during the birth process. Horm Behav 37:116–125
- Kanageswaran N, Nagel M, Scholz P, Mohrhardt J, Gisselmann G, Hatt H (2016) Modulatory effects of sex steroids progesterone and estradiol on odorant evoked responses in olfactory receptor neurons. PLoS One 11(8):e0159640
- Kato Y, Igarashi N, Hirasawa A, Tsujimoto G, Kobayashi M (1995) Distribution and developmental changes in vasopressin V2 receptor mRNA in rat brain. Differentiation 59:163–169
- Kaufling J, Veinante P, Pawlowski SA, Freund-Mercier M-J, Barrot M (2009) Afferents to the GABAergic tail of the ventral tegmental area in the rat. J Comp Neurol 513:597–621
- Keer SE, Stern JM (1999) Dopamine receptor blockade in the nucleus accumbens inhibits maternal retrieval and licking, but enhances nursing behavior in lactating rats. Physiol Behav 67:659–669
- Kelly MJ, Wagner EJ (1999) Estrogen modulation of G-protein-coupled receptors. Trends Endocrinol Metab 10:369–374
- Kelly MJ, Zhang C, Qiu J, Ronnekleiv OK (2013) Pacemaking kisspeptin neurons. Exp Physiol 98: 1535–1543
- Kenkel WM, Suboc G, Carter CS (2014) Autonomic, behavioral and neuroendocrine correlates of paternal behavior in male prairie voles. Physiol Behav 128:252–259
- Kenkel WM, Perkeybile AM, Carter CS (2017) The neurobiological causes and effects of alloparenting. Dev Neurobiol 77:214–232
- Kentner AC, Abizaid A, Bielajew C (2009) Modeling dad: animal models of paternal behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34:438–451
- Keshavarzi S, Sullivan RKP, Ianno DJ, Sah P (2014) Functional properties and projections of neurons in the medial amygdala. J Neurosci 34:8699–8715
- Kirkpatrick B, Carter CS, Newman SW, Insel TR (1994a) Axon-sparing lesions of the medial nucleus of the amygdala decrease affiliative behaviors in the prairie vole (*Microtus* ochrogaster): behavioral and anatomical specificity. Behav Neurosci 108:501–513
- Kirkpatrick B, Williams JR, Slotnick BM, Carter CS (1994b) Olfactory bulbectomy decreases social behavior in male prairie voles (*M. ochrogaster*). Physiol Behav 55:885–889
- Kleiman DG, Malcolm JR (1981) The evolution of male parental investment in mammals. In: Gubernick DJ, Klopfer PH (eds) Parental care in mammals. Springer, Boston, pp 347–387
- Koch M, Ehret G (1989) Estradiol and parental experience, but not prolactin are necessary for ultrasound recognition and pup-retrieving in the mouse. Physiol Behav 45:771–776

- Koksma JJ, van Kesteren RE, Rosahl TW, Zwart R, Smit AB, Lüddens H, Brussaard AB (2003) Oxytocin regulates neurosteroid modulation of GABAA receptors in supraoptic nucleus around parturition. J Neurosci 23:788–797
- Kow LM, Pfaff DW (2016) Rapid estrogen actions on ion channels: a survey in search for mechanisms. Steroids 111:46–53
- Kozorovitskiy Y, Hughes M, Lee K, Gould E (2006) Fatherhood affects dendritic spines and vasopressin V1a receptors in the primate prefrontal cortex. Nat Neurosci 9:1094–1095
- Kramer KM, Perry AN, Golbin D, Cushing BS (2009) Sex steroid are necessary in the second postnatal week for the expression of male alloparental behavior in prairie voles (*Microtus* ochrogaster). Behav Neurosci 123:958–963
- Kritzer M (2004) The distribution of immunoreactivity for intracellular androgen receptors in the cerebral cortex of hormonally intact adult male and female rats: localization in pyramidal neurons making corticocortical connections. Cereb Cortex 14:268–280
- Kuzawa CW, Gettler LT, Muller MN, McDade TW, Feranil AB (2009) Fatherhood, pairbonding and testosterone in the Philippines. Horm Behav 56:429–435
- Lambert KG, Kinsley CH (2012) Brain and behavioral modifications that accompany the onset of motherhood. Parenting 12:74–88
- Lambert KG, Franssen CL, Hampton JE, Rzucidlo AM, Hyer MM, True M, Kaufman C, Bardi M (2013) Modeling paternal attentiveness: distressed pups evoke differential neurobiological and behavioral responses in paternal and nonpaternal mice. Neurosci 234:1–12
- Landgraf R, Neumann ID (2004) Vasopressin and oxytocin release within the brain: a dynamic concept of multiple and variable modes of neuropeptide communication. Front Neuroendocrinol 25:150–176
- Lee AW, Brown RE (2002) Medial preoptic lesions disrupt parental behavior in both male and female California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Behav Neurosci 116:968
- Lee AW, Brown RE (2007) Comparison of medial preoptic, amygdala, and nucleus accumbens lesions on parental behavior in California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). Physiol Behav 92:617–628
- Lee A, Li M, Watchus J, Fleming AS (1999) Neuroanatomical basis of maternal memory in postpartum rats: selective role for the nucleus accumbens. Behav Neurosci 113:523–538
- Lee A, Clancy S, Fleming AS (2000) Mother rats bar-press for pups: effects of lesions of the mpoa and limbic sites on maternal behavior and operant responding for pup-reinforcement. Behav Brain Res 108:215–231
- Lee HJ, Macbeth AH, Pagani JH, Young WS (2009) Oxytocin: the great facilitator of life. Prog Neurobiol 88:127–151
- Lei K, Cushing BS, Musatov S, Ogawa S, Kramer KM (2010) Estrogen receptor-α in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis regulates social affiliation in male prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). PLoS One 5:e8931
- Leng G, Ludwig M (2016) Intranasal oxytocin: myths and delusions. Biol Psychiatry 79:243-250
- Leonard CM, Scott JW (1971) Origin and distribution of the amygdalofugal pathways in the rat: an experimental neuronatomical study. J Comp Neurol 141:313–329
- Li M, Fleming AS (2003a) Differential involvement of nucleus accumbens shell and core subregions in maternal memory in postpartum female rats. Behav Neurosci 117:426–445
- Li M, Fleming AS (2003b) The nucleus accumbens shell is critical for normal expression of pup retrieval in postpartum rats. Behav Brain Res 145:99–111
- Li Y, Lian Z, Wang B, Tai F, Wu R, Hao P, Qiao X (2015) Natural variation in paternal behavior is associated with central estrogen receptor alpha and oxytocin levels. J Comp Physiol A 201: 285–293
- Li T, Chen X, Mascaro J, Haroon E, Rilling JK (2017) Intranasal oxytocin, but not vasopressin, augments neural responses to toddlers in human fathers. Horm Behav 93:193–202
- Liang M, Zhong J, Liu HX, Lopatina O, Nakada R, Yamauchi AM, Higashida H (2014) Pairmatedependent pup retrieval as parental behavior in male mice. Front Neurosci 8:186

- Lieberwirth C, Wang Y, Jia X, Liu Y, Wang Z (2013) Fatherhood reduces the survival of adultgenerated cells and affects various types of behavior in the prairie vole (*Microtus ochrogaster*). Behav Neurosci 38:3345–3355
- Liu RC, Schreiner CE (2007) Auditory cortical detection and discrimination correlates with communicative significance. PLoS Biol 5:e173
- Liu HX, Lopatina O, Higashida C, Fujimoto H, Akther S, Inzhutova A, Liang M, Zhong J, Tsuji T, Yoshihara T, Sumi K, Ishiyama M, Ma WJ, Ozaki M, Yagitani S, Yokoyama S, Mukaida N, Sakurai T, Hori O, Yoshioka K, Hirao A, Kato Y, Ishihara K, Kato I, Okamoto H, Cherepanov SM, Salmina AB, Hirai H, Asano M, Brown DA, Nagano I, Higashida H (2013) Displays of paternal mouse pup retrieval following communicative interaction with maternal mates. Nat Commun 4:1346
- Londei T, Segala P, Leone VG (1989) Mouse pup urine as an infant signal. Physiol Behav 45: 579–583
- Lonstein JS (2007) Regulation of anxiety during the postpartum period. Front Neuroendocrinol 28: 115–141
- Lonstein LS, De Vries GJ (1999) Sex differences in the parental behaviour of adult virgin prairie voles: independence from gonadal hormones and vasopressin. J Neuroendocrinol 11:441–449
- Lonstein JS, Rood BD, De Vries GJ (2002) Parental responsiveness is feminized after neonatal castration in virgin male prairie voles, but is not masculinized by perinatal testosterone in virgin females. Horm Behav 41:80–87
- Lubin M, Leon M, Moltz H, Numan M (1972) Hormones and maternal behavior in the male rat. Horm Behav 3:369–374
- Luis J, Ramíre L, Carmona A, Ortiz G, Delgado J, Cárdenas R (2009) Paternal behavior and testosterone plasma levels in the volcano mouse *Neotomodon alstoni* (Rodentia: Muridae). Rev Biol Trop 57:433–439
- MacKinnon P, Clark C, Clement EM, Sheaves R (1985) Changes in concentrations and rate of decline of adrenaline in the medial preoptic area and mediobasal hypothalamus of acutely ovariectomized steroid-treated rats. J Endocrinol 104:129–135
- Magid KS (2011) Reproductive ecology and life history of human males: a migrant study of Bangladeshi men. University College London, London
- Mahesh VB, Brann DW (2005) Regulatory role of excitatory amino acids in reproduction. Endocrine 28:271–280
- Mak GK, Weiss S (2010) Paternal recognition of adult offspring mediated by newly generated CNS neurons. Nat Neurosci 13:753–758
- Malsbury CW, McKay K (1994) Neurotrophic effects of testosterone on the medial nucleus of the amygdala in adult male rats. J Neuroendocrinol 6:57–69
- Mani SK, Mermelstein PG, Tetel MJ, Anesetti G (2012) Convergence of multiple mechanisms of steroid hormone action. Horm Metab Res 44:569–576
- Marchlewska-Koj A, Kapusta J, Olejniczak P (1999) Ultrasonic response of CBA newborn mice to bedding odour. Behaviour 136:269–278
- Martinez A, Ramos G, Martinez-Torres M, Nicolás L, Carmona A, Cárdenas M, Luis J (2015) Paternal behavior in the Mongolian gerbil (Meriones unguiculatus): estrogenic and androgenic regulation. Horm Behav 71:91–95
- Martinez-Gonzalez C, Bolam JP, Mena-Segovia J (2011) Topographical organization of the pedunculopontine nucleus. Front Neuroanat 5:1–10
- Mascaro JS, Hackett PD, Rilling JK (2014) Differential neural responses to child and sexual stimuli in human fathers and non-fathers and their hormonal correlates. Psychoneuroendocrinology 46:153–163
- Matsumoto T, Honda S-I, Harada N (2003) Alteration in sex-specific behaviors in male mice lacking the aromatase gene. Neuroendocrinology 77:416–424
- Mayer AD, Freeman NCG, Rosenblatt JS (1979) Ontogeny of maternal behavior in the laboratory rat: factors underlying changes in responsiveness from 30 to 90 days. Dev Psychobiol 12:425–439

- McCarthy MM (2010) How it's made: organisational effects of hormones on the developing brain. J Neuroendocrinol 22:736–742
- McCullough J, Quadagno DM, Goldman BD (1974) Neonatal gonadal hormones: effect on maternal and sexual behavior in the male rat. Physiol Behav 12:183–188
- McEwen BS, Akama KT, Spencer-Segal JL, Milner TA, Waters EM (2012) Estrogen effects on the brain: actions beyond the hypothalamus via novel mechanisms. Behav Neurosci 126:4–16
- Mech LD, Wolf PC, Packard JM (1999) Regurgitative food transfer among wild wolves. Can J Zool 77:1192–1195
- Mena-Segovia J, Bolam JP, Magill PJ (2004) Pedunculopontine nucleus and basal ganglia: distant relatives or part of the same family? Trends Neurosci 27:585–588
- Mennella JA, Moltz H (1988a) Infanticide in the male rat: the role of the vomeronasal organ. Physiol Behav 42:303–306
- Mennella JA, Moltz H (1988b) Infanticide in rats: male strategy and female counter-strategy. Physiol Behav 42:19–28
- Miranda JA, Liu RC (2009) Dissecting natural sensory plasticity: hormones and experience in a maternal context. Hear Res 252:21-28
- Miranda JA, Shepard KN, McClintock SK, Liu RC (2014) Adult plasticity in the subcortical auditory pathway of the maternal mouse. PLoS One 9:e101630
- Mogenson GJ (1987) Limbic-motor integration. Prog Psychobiol Physiol Psychol 12:117-170
- Mong JA, McCarthy MM (1999) Steroid-induced developmental plasticity in hypothalamic astrocytes: implications for synaptic patterning. J Neurobiol 40:602–619
- Morrell JI, Schwanzel-Fukuda M, Fahrbach SE, Pfaff DW (1984) Axonal projections and peptide content of steroid hormone concentrating neurons. Peptides 5:227–239
- Mota MT, Sousa MBC (2000) Prolactin levels of fathers and helpers related to alloparental care in common marmosets, *Callithrix jacchus*. Folia Primatol 71:22–26
- Mota MT, Franci CR, de Sousa MB (2006) Hormonal changes related to paternal and alloparental care in common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). Horm Behav 49:293–302
- Myers B, Dolgas CM, Kasckow J, Cullinan WE, Herman JP (2014) Central stress-integrative circuits: forebrain glutamatergic and GABAergic projections to the dorsomedial hypothalamus, medial preoptic area, and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. Brain Struct 219:1287–1303
- Nakahara TS, Cardozo LM, Ibarra-Soria X, Bard AD, Carvalho VMA, Trintinalia GZ, Logan DW, Papes F (2016) Detection of pup odors by non-canonical adult vomeronasal neurons expressing an odorant receptor gene is influenced by sex and parenting status. BMC Biol 14:12
- Newman JD (2007) Neural circuits underlying crying and cry responding in mammals. Behav Brain Res 182:155–165
- Numan M (1988) Neural basis of maternal behavior in the rat. Psychoneuroendocrinology 13: 47–62
- Numan M (2014) Neurobiology of social behavior: toward an understanding of the prosocial and antisocial brain. Academic Press, London
- Numan M, Numan MJ (1997) Projection sites of medial preoptic area and ventral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis neurons that express Fos during maternal behavior in female rats. J Neuroendocrinol 9:369–384
- Numan M, Sheehan TP (1997) Neuroanatomical circuitry for mammalian maternal behavior. Ann N Y Acad Sci 807:101–125
- Numan M, Smith HG (1984) Maternal behavior in rats: evidence for the involvement of preoptic projections to the ventral tegmental area. Behav Neurosci 98:712–727
- Numan M, Stolzenberg DS (2008) Hypothalamic interaction with the mesolimbic dopamine system and the regulation of maternal responsiveness. In: Bridges RS (ed) Neurobiology of the parental brain. Academic Press, Burlington, MA, pp 3–22
- Numan M, Corodimas KP, Numan MJ, Factor EM, Piers WD (1988) Axon-sparing lesions of the preoptic region and substantia innominata disrupt maternal behavior in rats. Behav Neurosci 102:381–396

- Numan M, Numan MJ, English JB (1993) Excitotoxic amino acid injections into the medial amygdala facilitate maternal behavior in virgin female rats. Horm Behav 27:56–81
- Numan M, Numan MJ, Schwarz JM, Neuner CM, Flood TF, Smith CD (2005) Medial preoptic area interactions with the nucleus accumbens-ventral pallidum circuit and maternal behavior in rats. Behav Brain Res 158:53–68
- Numan M, Stolzenberg DS, Dellevigne AA, Correnti CM, Numan MJ (2009) Temporary inactivation of ventral tegmental area neurons with either muscimol or baclofen reversibly disrupts maternal behavior in rats through different underlying mechanisms. Behav Neurosci 123:740
- Nunes S, Fite JE, French JA (2000) Variation in steroid hormones associated with infant care behaviour and experience in male marmosets (*Callithrix kuhlii*). Anim Behav 60:857–865
- Nunes S, Fite JE, Patera KJ, French JA (2001) Interactions among paternal behavior, steroid hormones, and parental experience in male marmosets (*Callithrix kuhlii*). Horm Behav 39:70–82
- Ogawa S, Washburn TF, Taylor J, Lubahn DB, Korach KS, Pfaff DW (1998) Modifications of testosterone-dependent behaviors by estrogen receptor-α gene disruption in male mice. Endocrinology 139:5058–5069
- Ogiue-Ikeda M, Tanabe N, Mukai H, Hojo Y, Murakami G, Tsurugizawa T, Takata N, Kimoto T, Kawato S (2008) Rapid modulation of synaptic plasticity by estrogens as well as endocrine disrupters in hippocampal neurons. Brain Res Rev 57:363–375
- Okabe S, Nagasawa M, Kihara T, Kato M, Harada T, Koshida N, Mogi K, Kikusui T (2013) Pup odor and ultrasonic vocalizations synergistically stimulate maternal attention in mice. Behav Neurosci 127:432–438
- Olazábal DE, Pereira M, Agrati D, Ferreira A, Fleming AS, González-Mariscal G, Lévy F, Lucion AB, Morrell JI, Numan M, Uriarte N (2013) Flexibility and adaptation of the neural substrate that supports maternal behavior in mammals. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:1875–1892
- Orikasa C, Kondo Y, Katsumata H, Terada M, Akimoto T, Sakuma Y, Minami S (2017) Vomeronasal signal deficiency enhances parental behavior in socially isolated male mice. Physiol Behav 168:98–102
- Oxley G, Fleming AS (2000) The effects of medial preoptic area and amygdala lesions on maternal behavior in the juvenile rat. Dev Psychobiol 37:253–265
- Parker KJ, Kinney LF, Phillips KM, Lee TM (2001) Paternal behavior is associated with central neurohormone receptor binding patterns in meadow voles (*Microtus pennsylvanicus*). Behav Neurol 115:1341–1348
- Pedersen CA, Caldwell JD, Walker C, Ayers G, Mason GA (1994) Oxyotcin activates the postpartum onset of rat maternal behavior in the ventral tegmental and medial preoptic areas. Behav Neurosci 108:1163–1171
- Perea-Rodriguez JP, Saltzman W (2014) Differences in placentophagia in relation to reproductive status in the California mouse (*Peromyscus californicus*). Dev Psychobiol 56:812–820
- Perea-Rodriguez JP, Takahashi EY, Amador TM, Hao RC, Saltzman W, Trainor BC (2015) Effects of reproductive experience on central expression of progesterone, oestrogen α, oxytocin and vasopressin receptor mRNA in male California mice (*Peromyscus californicus*). J Neuroendocrinol 27:245–252
- Perkeybile AM, Bales KL (2017) Intergenerational transmission of sociality: the role of parents in shaping social behavior in monogamous and non-monogamous species. J Exp Biol 220:114–123
- Perkeybile AM, Griffin LL, Bales KL (2013) Natural variation in early parental care correlates with social behaviors in adolescent prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). Front Behav Neurosci 7:21
- Perkeybile AM, Delaney-Busch N, Hartman S, Grimm KJ, Bales KL (2015) Intergenerational transmission of alloparental behavior and oxytocin and vasopressin receptor distribution in the prairie vole. Front Behav Neurosci 9:191
- Pfaff D, Waters E, Khan Q, Zhang X, Numan M (2011) Minireview: estrogen receptor-initiated mechanisms causal to mammalian reproductive behaviors. Endocrinology 152:1209–1217

- Plumb R, Granger J, Stumpf C, Wilson ID, Evans JA, Lenz EM (2003) Metabonomic analysis of mouse urine by liquid-chromatography-time of flight mass spectrometry (LC-TOFMS): detection of strain, diurnal and gender differences. Analyst 128:819–823
- Pro-Sistiaga P, Mohedano-Moriano A, Ubeda-Bañon I, del mar Arroyo-Jimenez M, Marcos P, Artacho-Pérula E, Crespo C, Insausti R, Martinez-Marcos A (2007) Convergence of olfactory and vomeronasal projections in the rat basal telencephalon. J Comp Neurol 504:346–362
- Prudom SL, Broz CA, Schultz-Darken NJ, Ferris CT, Snowdon CT, Ziegler TE (2008) Exposure to infant scent lowers serum testosterone in father common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). R Soc Biol Lett 4:603–605
- Reburn CJ, Wynne-Edwards KE (1999) Hormonal changes in males of a naturally biparental and a uniparental mammal. Horm Behav 35:163–176
- Reddy RC, Amodei R, Estill CT, Stormshak F, Meaker M, Roselli CE (2015) Effect of testosterone on neuronal morphology and neuritic growth of fetal lamb hypothalamus-preoptic area and cerebral cortex in primary culture. PLoS One 10:e0129521
- Ribeiro AC, Musatov S, Shteyler A, Simanduyev S, Arrieta-Cruz I, Ogawa S, Pfaff DW (2012) siRNA silencing of estrogen receptor-α expression specifically in medial preoptic area neurons abolishes maternal care in female mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:16324–16329
- Roberts RL, Jenkins KT, Lawler T Jr, Wegner FH, Newman JD (2001) Bromocriptine administration lowers serum prolactin and disrupts parental responsiveness in common marmosets (*Callithrix j. jacchus*). Horm Behav 39:106–112
- Ronnekleiv OK, Bosch MA, Zhang C (2012) 17beta-oestradiol regulation of gonadotrophinreleasing hormone neuronal excitability. J Neuroendocrinol 24:122–130
- Roselli CE, Stadelman H, Reeve R, Bishop CV, Stormshak F (2007) The ovine sexually dimorphic nucleus of the medial preoptic area is organized prenatally by testosterone. Endocrinology 148:4450–4457
- Roselli CE, Amodei R, Meaker M, Reddy RC, Estill CT, Stormshak F (2015) Effect of testosterone on neuronal morphology and neuritic growth of fetal lamb hypothalamus-preoptic area and cerebral cortex in primary culture. PLoS One 10:e0129521
- Rosenberg KM (1974) Effects of pre- and post-pubertal castration and testosterone on pup-killing behavior in the male rat. Physiol Behav 13:159–161
- Rosenberg PA, Herrenkohl LR (1976) Maternal behavior in male rats: critical times for the suppressive actions of androgens. Physiol Behav 16(293):297
- Rosenblatt JS, Ceus K (1998) Estrogen implants in the medial preoptic area stimulate maternal behavior in male rats. Horm Behav 33:23–30
- Rosenblatt JS, Mayer AD (1995) An analysis of approach/withdrawal processes in the initiation of maternal behavior in the laboratory rat. In: Hood KE, Greenberg G, Tobach E (eds) Handbook of behavioral neurobiology. Plenum Press, New York, pp 229–298
- Rosenblatt JS, Hazelwood S, Poole J (1996) Maternal behavior in male rats: effects of medial preoptic area lesions and presence of maternal aggression. Horm Behav 30:201–215
- Ross HE, Young LJ (2009) Oxytocin and the neural mechanisms regulating social cognition and affiliative behavior. Front Neuroendocrinol 30(4):534–547
- Ruscio MG, Sweeny TD, Hazelton JL, Suppatkul P, Boothe E, Carter CS (2008) Pup exposure elicits hippocampal cell proliferation in the prairie vole. Behav Brain Res 187:9–16
- Sakaguchi K, Tanaka M, Ohkubo T, Doh-ura K, Fujikawa T, Sudo S, Nakashima K (1996) Induction of brain prolactin receptor long-form mRNA expression and maternal behavior in pup-contacted male rats: promotion by prolactin administration and suppression by female contact. Neuroendocrinology 63:559–568
- Saltzman W, Ziegler TE (2014) Functional significance of hormonal changes in mammalian fathers. Neuroendocrinology 26:685–696
- Saltzman W, Harris BN, de Jong TR, Perea-Rodriguez JP, Horrell ND, Zhao M, Andrew JR (2017) Paternal care in biparental rodents: intra- and inter-individual variation. Integr Comp Biol 57:589–602
- Sapolsky RM, Romero LM, Munck AU (2000) How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory and preparative actions. Endocr Rev 21:55–89

- Schneider JS, Stone MK, Wynne-Edwards KE, Horton TH, Lydon J, O'Malley B, Levine JE (2003) Progesterone receptors mediate male aggression toward infants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 2951–2956
- Schneider JS, Burgess C, Horton TH, Levine JE (2009) Effects of progesterone on male-mediated infant-directed aggression. Behav Brain Res 199:340–344
- Schradin C (2008) Differences in prolactin levels between three alternative male reproductive tactics in striped mice (*Rhabdomys pumilio*). Proc Biol Sci 275:1047–1052
- Schradin C, Anzenberger G (1999) Prolactin, the hormone of paternity. News Physiol Sci 14: 223–231
- Schradin C, Yuen CH (2011) Hormone levels of male African striped mice change as they switch between alternative reproductive tactics. Horm Behav 60:676–680
- Schradin C, Reeder DM, Mendoza SP, Anzenberger G (2003) Prolactin and paternal care: comparison of three species of monogamous New World monkeys (*Callicebus cupreus, Callithrix jacchus*, and *Callimico goeldii*). J Comp Psychol 117:166
- Schum JE, Wynne-Edwards KE (2005) Estradiol and progesterone in paternal and non-paternal hamsters (*Phodopus*) becoming fathers: conflict with hypothesized roles. Horm Behav 47: 410–418
- Seelke AMN, Perkeybile AM, Grunewald R, Bales KL, Krubitzer LA (2016) Individual differences in cortical connections of somatosensory cortex are associated with parental rearing style in prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). J Comp Neurol 524:564–577
- Shahrokh DK, Zhang TY, Diorio J, Gratton A, Meaney MJ (2010) Oxytocin-dopamine interactions mediate variations in maternal behavior in the rat. Endocrinology 151:2276–2286
- Shorey S, He HG, Morelius E (2016) Skin-to-skin contact by fathers and the impact on infant and paternal outcomes: an integrative review. Midwifery 40:207–217
- Silva MRP, Bernardi MM, Cruz-Casallas PE, Felicio LF (2003) Pimozide injections into the nucleus accumbens disrupt maternal behaviour in lactating rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 93:42–47
- Simerly RB, Swanson LW, Chang C, Muramatsu M (1990) Distribution of androgen and estrogen receptor mRNA-containing cells in the rat brain: an in situ hybridization study. J Comp Neurol 294:76–95
- Simoncelli LA, Delevan CJ, Al-Naimi OAS, Bamshad M (2010) Female tactile cues maximize paternal behavior in prairie voles. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 64:865–873
- Simonoska R, Stenberg A, Masironi B, Sahlin L, Hultcrantz M (2009) Estrogen receptors in the inner ear during different stages of pregnancy and development in the rat. Acta Otolaryngol 129:1175–1181
- Slawski BA, Buntin JD (1995) Preoptic area lesions disrupt prolactin-induced parental feeding behavior in ring doves. Horm Behav 29:248–266
- Smith MO, Holland RC (1975) Effects of lesions of the nucleus accumbens on lactation and postpartum behavior. Physiol Psychol 3:331–336
- Smith KS, Tindell AJ, Aldridge JW, Berridge KC (2009) Ventral pallidum roles in reward and motivation. Behav Brain Res 196:155–167
- Sofroniew MV (1983) Vasopressin and oxytocin in the mammalian brain and spinal cord. Trends Neurosci 6:467–472
- Song Z, Tai F, Yu C, Wu R, Zhang X, Broders H, Guo R (2010) Sexual or paternal experiences alter alloparental behavior and the central expression of ERα and OT in male mandarin voles (*Microtus mandarinus*). Behav Brain Res 214:290–300
- Spehr M, Spehr J, Ukhanov K, Kelliher KR, Leinders-Zufall T, Zufall F (2006) Parallel processing of social signals by the mammalian main and accessory olfactory systems. Cell Mol Life Sci 63:1476–1484
- Spence-Aizenberg A, Di Fiore A, Fernandez-Duque E (2016) Social monogamy, male-female relationships, and biparental care in wild titi monkeys (*Callicebus discolor*). Primates 57: 103–112

- Stolzenberg DS, McKenna JB, Keough S, Hancock R, Numan MJ, Numan M (2007) Dopamine D<sub>1</sub> receptor stimulation of the nucleus accumbens or the medial preoptic area promotes the onset of maternal behavior in pregnancy-terminated rats. Behav Neurol 121:907–919
- Storey AE, Ziegler TE (2016) Primate paternal care: interactions between biology and social experience. Horm Behav 77:260–271
- Storey AE, Walsh CJ, Quinton RL, Wynne-Edwards KE (2000) Hormonal correlates of paternal responsiveness in new and expectant fathers. Evol Hum Behav 21:79–95
- Storey AE, Noseworthy DE, Delahunty KM, Halfyard SJ, McKay DW (2011) The effects of social context on the hormonal and behavioral responsiveness of human fathers. Horm Behav 60: 353–361
- Sturgis JD, Bridges RS (1997) N-methyl-DL-aspartic acid lesions of the medial preoptic area disrupt ongoing parental behavior in male rats. Physiol Behav 62:305–310
- Swann JM, Newman SW (1992) Testosterone regulates substance P within neurons of the medial nucleus of the amygdala, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and the medial preoptic area of the male golden hamster. Brain Res 590:18–28
- Szawka RE, Poletini MO, Leite CM, Bernuci MP, Kalil B, Mendonça LBD, Corlino ROG, Helena CVV, Bertram R, Franci CR, Anselmo-Franci JA (2013) Release of norepinephrine in the preoptic area activates anteroventral periventricular nucleus neurons and stimulates the surge of luteinizing hormone. Endocrinology 154:363–374
- Tachikawa KS, Yoshihara Y, Kuroda KO (2013) Behavioral transition from attack to parenting in male mice: a crucial role of the vomeronasal system. J Neurosci 33:5120–5126
- Taylor JH, French JA (2015) Oxytocin and vasopressin enhance responsiveness to infant stimuli in adult marmosets. Horm Behav 75:154–159
- Timonin ME, Cushing BS, Wynne-Edwards KE (2008) In three brain regions central to maternal behaviour, neither male nor female *Phodopus* dwarf hamsters show changes in oestrogen receptor alpha distribution with mating or parenthood. J Neuroendocrinol 20:1301–1309
- Tobiansky DJ, Roma PG, Hattori T, Will RG, Nutsch VL, Dominguez JM (2013) The medial preoptic area modulates cocaine-induced activity in female rats. Behav Neurosci 127:293–302
- Tobiansky DJ, Will RG, Lominac KD, Turner JM, Hattori T, Krishnan K, Martz JR, Nutsch VL, Dominguez JM (2016) Estradiol in the preoptic area regulates the dopaminergic response to cocaine in the nucleus accumbens. Neuropsychopharmacology 41:1897–1906
- Trainor BC, Marler CA (2002) Testosterone promotes paternal behaviour in a monogamous mammal via conversion to oestrogen. Proc Biol Sci 269:823–829
- Trainor BC, Bird IM, Alday NA, Schlinger BA, Marler CA (2003) Variation in aromatase activity in the medial preoptic area and plasma progesterone is associated with the onset of paternal behavior. Neuroendocrinology 78:36–44
- Tsuneoka Y, Maruyama T, Yoshida S, Nishimori K, Kato T, Numan M, Kuroda KO (2013) Functional, anatomical, and neurochemical differentiation of medial preoptic area subregions in relation to maternal behavior in the mouse. J Comp Neurol 521:1633–1663
- Tsuneoka Y, Tokita K, Yoshihara C, Amano T, Esposito G, Huang AJ, Yu LM, Odaka Y, Shinozuka K, McHugh TJ, Kuroda KO (2015) Distinct preoptic-BST nuclei dissociate paternal and infanticidal behavior in mice. EMBO J 34:2652–2670
- Tsuneoka Y, Yoshida S, Takase K, Oda S, Kuroda M, Funato H (2017) Neurotransmitters and neuropeptides in gonadal steroid receptor-expressing cells in medial preoptic area subregions of the male mouse. Sci Rep 7:9809
- Vargas-Pinilla P, Paixão-Côrtes VR, Paré P, Tovo-Rodrigues L, Vieira CMDAG, Xavier A, Comas D, Pissinatti A, Sinigaglia M, Rigo MM, Viera GF, Lucion AB, Salzano FM, Vieira GF (2015) Evolutionary pattern in the OXT-OXTR system in primates: coevolution and positive selection footprints. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:88–93
- Vargas-Pinilla P, Babb P, Nunes L, Paré P, Rosa G, Felkl A, Longo Dâae L, Salzano FM, Paixão-Côrtes VR, Gonçalves GL, Bortolini MC (2017) Progesterone response element variation in the OXTR promoter region and paternal care in New World monkeys. Behav Genet 47:77–87
- van Anders SM, Gray PB (2007) Hormones and human partnering. Annu Rev Sex Res 18:60-93

- Vernotica EM, Rosenblatt JS, Morrell JI (1999) Microinfusion of cocaine into the medial preoptic area or nucleus accumbens transiently impairs maternal behavior in the rat. Behav Neurosci 113: 377–390
- Vertes RP (2004) Differential projections of the infralimbic and prelimbic cortex in the rat. Synapse 51:32–58
- Vom Saal FS (1985) Time-contingent change in infanticide and parental behavior induced by ejaculation in male mice. Physiol Behav 34:7–15
- Wang Z, De Vries GJ (1993) Testosterone effects on paternal behavior and vasopressin immunoreactive projections in prairie voles (Microtus ochrogaster). Brain Res 631:156–160
- Wang Z, Ferris CF, De Vries GJ (1994) Role of septal vasopressin innervation in paternal behavior in prairie voles (*Microtus ochrogaster*). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:400–404
- Wang Z, Zhou L, Hulihan TJ, Insel TR (1996) Immunoreactivity of central vasopressin and oxytocin pathways in microtine rodents: a quantitative comparative study. J Comp Neurol 366:726–737
- Wang ZX, Liu Y, Young LJ, Insel TR (2000) Hypothalamic vasopressin gene expression increases in both males and females postpartum in a biparental rodent. J Neuroendocrinol 12:111–120
- Wang J, Tai F, Lai X (2014) Cocaine withdrawal influences paternal behavior and associated central expression of vasopressin, oxytocin and tyrosine hydroxylase in mandarin voles. Neuropeptides 48:29–35
- West HER, Capelllini I (2016) Male care and life history traits in mammals. Nat Commun 7:11854
- Winn P (2006) How best to consider the structure and function of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus: evidence from animal studies. J Neurol Sci 248:234–250
- Woller MJ, Sosa ME, Chiang Y, Prudom SL, Keelty P, Moore JE, Ziegler TE (2011) Differential hypothalamic secretion of neurocrines in male common marmosets: parental experience effects. J Neuroendocrinol 24:413–421
- Woodroffe R, Vincent A (1994) Mother's little helpers: patterns of male care in mammals. Trends Ecol Evol 9:294–297
- Wu Z, Autry AE, Bergan JF, Watabe-Uchida M, Dulac CG (2014) Galanin neurons in the medial preoptic area govern parental behaviour. Nature 509:325–330
- Wynne-Edwards KE (1995) Biparental care in Djungarian but not Siberian dwarf hamsters (*Phodopus*). Anim Behav 50:1571–1585
- Yoshida M, Suga S, Sakuma Y (1994) Estrogen reduces the excitability of the female rat medial amygdala afferents from the medial preoptic area but not those from the lateral septum. Exp Brain Res 101:1–7
- Yu GZ, Kaba H, Okutani F, Takahashi S, Higuchi T (1996a) The olfactory bulb: a critical site of action for oxytocin in the induction of maternal behaviour in the rat. Neurosci 72:1083–1088
- Yu GZ, Kaba H, Okutani F, Takahashi S, Higuchi T, Seto K (1996b) The action of oxytocin originating in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus on mitral and granule cells in the rat main olfactory bulb. Neuroscience 72:1073–1082
- Zancan M, Dall'Oglio A, Quagliotto E, Rasia-Filho AA (2017) Castration alters the number and structure of dendritic spines in the male posterodorsal medial amygdala. Eur J Neursci 45: 572–580
- Zhang C, Tonsfeldt KJ, Qiu J, Bosch MA, Kobayashi K, Steiner RA, Ronnekleiv OK (2013) Molecular mechanisms that drive estradiol-dependent burst firing of Kiss1 neurons in the rostral periventricular preoptic area. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 305:E1384–E1397
- Zhong J, Liang M, Akther S, Higashida C, Tsuji T, Higashida H (2014) c-Fos expression in the paternal mouse brain induced by communicative interaction with maternal mates. Mol Brain 7:66
- Ziegler TE, Snowdon CT (2000) Preparental hormone levels and parenting experience in male cotton-top tamarins, Saguinus oedipus. Horm Behav 38:159–167
- Ziegler TE, Sosa ME (2016) Hormonal stimulation and paternal experience influence responsiveness to infant distress vocalizations by adult male common marmosets, *Callithrix jacchus*. Horm Behav 78:13–19

- Ziegler TE, Wegner FH, Snowdon CT (1996) Hormonal responses to parental and nonparental conditions in male cotton-top tamarins, *Saguinus oedipus*, a New World primate. Horm Behav 30:287–297
- Ziegler TE, Wegner FH, Carlson AA, Lazaro-Perea C, Snowdon CT (2000) Prolactin levels during the periparturitional period in the biparental cotton-top Tamarin (*Saguinus Oedipus*): interactions with gender, androgen levels, and parenting. Horm Behav 38:111–122
- Ziegler TE, Washabaugh KF, Snowdon CT (2004) Responsiveness of expectant male cotton-top tamarins, Saguinus oedipus, to mate's pregnancy. Horm Behav 45:84–92
- Ziegler TE, Prudom SL, Zahed SR (2009a) Variations in male parenting behavior and physiology in the common marmoset. Am J Hum Biol 21:739–744
- Ziegler TE, Prudom SL, Zahed SR, Parlow AF, Wegner F (2009b) Prolactin's mediative role in male parenting in parentally experienced marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). Horm Behav 56: 436–443
- Zilkha N, Scott N, Kimchi T (2017) Sexual dimorphism of parental care: from genes to behavior. Annu Rev Neurosci 40:273–305
- Zimmermann-Peruzatto JM, Lazzari VM, de Moura AC, Almeida S, Giovenardi M (2015) Examining the role of vasopressin in the modulation of parental and sexual behaviors. Front Psych 6:130